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Trent Winstone, Previously Affirmed

MS. LONG:  Good morning, everyone.

Today the Board is sitting in Board File Nos. EB-2015-0049 and EB-2015-0029, applications brought by Enbridge and Union Gas for various DSM-related approvals.

Before we discuss the qualifications of your expert witness, Mr. O'Leary, are there any other preliminary matters with which we need to deal?

MR. O'LEARY:  None from Enbridge's perspective.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Millar, anything else?  No.  Then I would like to move forward with a discussion of the qualifications of Mr. Winstone as an expert in the specific area of avoided cost.

Mr. O'Leary, I understand that Mr. Millar spoke to you yesterday about providing the Board with more detail in respect of Mr. Winstone's experience in that area, so if you could proceed on that basis.

MR. O'LEARY:  I will, and thank you for this opportunity.  Obviously if we had known that there was going to be an objection made we would have done a little more than what was done yesterday.  My friend has provided me with a copy of an article that has been put out by one of our competing firms here, so the one thing I can admit to is an agreement with my friend that the applicable case that applies to the qualification of experts is the decision of the Supreme Court in R. v. Mohan, 1994, and I think it's an important place to start, because that court set the test, and the one that guides courts and tribunals, and specifically at page 25 of that decision, the court -- the Supreme Court of Canada said:
 "An expert witness is a witness who is shown to have acquired special or particular knowledge through study or experience in respect of the matters on which he or she undertakes to testify."

So that really involves two steps.  You've got to determine whether or not he or she has the qualifications that are appropriate to speak to the matter, but it also requires you to determine what are the matters that the person is being asked to speak to.

So obviously, the request to qualify Mr. Winstone yesterday was in a broad area, but it is always subject to what is relevant for the purposes of this proceeding.

The examination of the qualifications is not simply limited to the education, training, and experience.  You can look at other factors, and there is case law that I can cite that support that as well.  So it is a broad test, and it is within your discretion.

But it is important for me to repeat something that I did mention yesterday, particularly given the process in tribunals such as this.  The intent of your rules and the evidentiary filings is to limit the amount of oral hearing.  If we were to follow the rules of the courts and require that absolutely every piece of evidence be introduced orally, we'd be at these proceedings for years on end.  It is simply not possible.

So you issue procedural orders and require the parties to file pre-filed evidence, so in this case, we have Mr. Winstone, that was retained by Enbridge as a third-party expert, to do a specific task, and that was to calculate the value of avoided distribution infrastructure costs.

That evidence was filed initially, and Mr. Chernick on behalf of GEC was engaged to, in part, amongst other things, undertake a review of that, and he did file a report, a critique, in fact, of the work that Mr. Winstone did, and that's been filed in evidence.

In your procedural order there is no mechanism, unlike in the lead-up to a trial, for the applicant in this case, Enbridge, and its expert to, in fact, respond or reply to what Mr. Chernick has said.

So we have, for the first time, an opportunity now for Mr. Winstone to respond to what Mr. Chernick has said.  If there had been an earlier opportunity to respond to it, you would then have a greater sense of the areas that Mr. Winstone would speak to today.

I'm hoping by several questions that I'm going to ask that you'll now be able to understand the fairly narrow areas that he intends to speak to, but from a process perspective, it is important to understand that what Mr. Poch is, in fact, asking to you do is to muzzle a witness before he's had a chance to even respond to another expert's critique of what he did, and we would submit to you that that is procedurally unfair.

The reason why I mentioned yesterday that it is often common for both courts, but more often for a tribunal, to allow an expert's testimony to be received, even if there is some hint of doubt about whether or not he or she has all of the qualifications -- and we submit that Mr. Winstone has all the qualifications necessary -- but the tribunals will ultimately allow that evidence in, and then they will give it the appropriate weight as they consider its relevance and the details that are provided by that witness.

And the reason why that is done, and particularly in administrative tribunals like this, is so that you are not denied hearing the evidence and you have the ability then to weigh it and consider it and determine its relevance and whether you should rely upon it, but coming back to my initial point is to allow that particular witness to reply to another expert who has filed evidence which is on the record which you may have seen, which would otherwise be not responded to without hearing from Mr. Winstone in this case.

So in terms of the area, I thought I should just briefly put some context of what Mr. Winstone is here to do.  And it is to ultimately answer questions in respect of the Navigant report on the avoided distribution cost, so let me just stop there for a second.

We're not talking about all of the avoided costs that are used for the purposes of the TRC screening; we're talking about only the distribution, the infrastructure distribution pipes in the ground, avoided costs.  We're not talking about commodity, we're not talking about water or electricity, and we're not talking about transportation and storage.  The evidence indicates that transportation and storage are included in the commodity components.

We are talking about a very narrow area which, looking at it holistically as a percentage of avoided costs, is a very minor amount.  So if you had, just to use an example, if you had a cubic metre of gas that was worth a dollar, the distribution infrastructure component might be only worth several cents, so we are talking in terms of magnitude something that is relatively minor here.

There is some debate, as I understand, from Mr. Chernick's evidence and my friend about whether or not the costs should be slightly higher, whether there should be slightly different inputs used, and these are debates that will, perhaps, come up during this proceeding, and as a matter of fact, other members of this panel will speak to whether or not the inputs are appropriated; for example, is there load associated with replacement pipe, or should that replacement pipe not be included in the calculations that are ultimately provided to Mr. Winstone for the purposes of him proceeding with his avoided distribution cost study.

So there are elements of fact, but what Mr. Winstone did is took the inputs and then generated the results, and my friend's expert has now critiqued it in several areas, one of which is the question of -- and this is where Mr. Winstone's opinion may be required -- in relation to whether or not a carrying charge, a nominal carrying charge, was included in the avoided distribution cost financial analysis.

Mr. Chernick believes that one was.  I believe you'll hear from Mr. Winstone that he used a different mechanism.  Whether it is of any materiality is a question to yourselves, but it is an opinion that will be given as to which is the appropriate mechanism, a nominal carrying charge or using the revenue requirement.

It will be evidence that is limited to what Mr. Winstone did, in terms of developing the financial analysis, and in terms of actually generating the results and what he did.

So this is not a broad discussion about avoided cost, generally, it is about the role that Mr. Winstone was tasked to perform and what he's provided in evidence here.

So if I may then simply then return to the question, which is the qualification of Mr. Winstone, I'm going to ask him several questions.  Hopefully they will assist in terms of your understanding of his qualifications and the areas that he's been asked to participate as a witness.

So Mr. Winstone, if I could ask you, first of all, what were you engaged to perform by Enbridge?

MR. WINSTONE:  To begin, if I can just reference page 1 of our document, and going straight to the first sentence, shall I just read it:
 "Navigant consulting has been retained by Enbridge Gas Distribution to determine the downstream or distribution avoided cost."

MR. O'LEARY:  Just let me stop you there.  In terms of the document, Mr. Winstone is referring to his report, which is filed in evidence, and I can give you the citation in a moment. Sorry to interrupt.

MR. WINSTONE:  More specifically, I was asked to develop the financial model required to value the deferral of distribution infrastructure in a regulatory environment.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right. Mr. Winstone, you've referred to regulatory environment.  Why is that a significant factor, and in what way does your experience relate to regulatory matters?

MR. WINSTONE:  It is important to understand how revenue requirement is determined when doing financial analysis, or preparing a financial model for a regulated utility.

MR. O'LEARY:  Can you tell us the steps that you undertook as a result of your retainer by Enbridge?

MR. WINSTONE:  There were three broad steps.  The first was secondary research on the other jurisdictions.  The second was a review of Enbridge's past DSM methodologies, EBRO 487 to 492, and again the focus of the work did I was solely on the distribution component.

The third step was the development of the financial model.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And did Enbridge give you any specific directions or limitation on how would you develop the financial model you used?

MR. WINSTONE:  No, the development of a financial model was my responsibility.

MR. O'LEARY:  And in respect of the capital cost of the distribution infrastructure, the peak day demand, load shape and measure lives that were ultimately actually used in your financial model, where did these inputs come from?

MR. WINSTONE:  These inputs all came from Enbridge.

MR. O'LEARY:  And what role did you have in selecting these inputs?

MR. WINSTONE:  I had no role.

MR. O'LEARY:  Can you please briefly describe the areas where you exercised your professional skill and judgment in completion the task that Enbridge asked you to perform.

MR. WINSTONE:  By providing an understanding of financial analysis and modeling, and an understanding of regulatory finance and the calculation of revenue requirement.

MR. O'LEARY:  So with those thoughts in mind, I'd ask you now, Madam Chair and fellow members of the Panel, to turn to Exhibit K6.4, which was the curriculum vitae that we briefly went to yesterday of Mr. Winstone.

I don't intend to repeat what I said, but just simply from an educational perspective, I thought it would be worth noting once again that Mr. Winstone obtained his MBA from Queen's, and a Bachelor of Civil Engineering from the University of Western Ontario.

If I could ask you, Mr. Winstone, you've got a number of pages of -- an extensive list of projects and experience that you've had over that 20 years that you've been providing these services.

Can you please take us to some of the more salient points that relate to the skills and experience that you ultimately exercised on behalf of Enbridge, to show any correlation between what you've done and what you did for Enbridge?

MR. WINSTONE:  Certainly.  So again, just focusing on the projects that highlight regulatory finance and determination of revenue requirement, just starting on page 1, the first project listed there was a project for the Ontario Energy Board looking at rate mitigation measures.  So again, it was critical to have an understanding of the calculation of rate base, revenue requirement, and how these flow through to the customer.

The last one on that page was done for Great Lakes Power.  This was a rate impact calculation, so again revenue requirement calculations were paramount in that analysis.

Going to page 2, the Pikangikum grid extension project, again looking at  coming up with a least-cost alternative for rate impact to the existing ratepayers;  again revenue requirement, cost of service.

Similarly for Cornwall Electric; if you move to Enbridge Gas Distribution, these were -- I did probably in the neighbourhood of five to ten leave-to-construct applications for the Ontario Energy Board.  Again, the calculation of revenue requirement was paramount.

Moving on to page 3, Oklahoma Gas and Electric; they were looking at the implementation of a smart grid, but it had to be -- they were looking to get regulatory approval.  They wanted it in rate base.

So again, it was putting forward the rate case and again revenue requirement, and what were the rate implications to the existing customers.

FortisOntario; that was another leave-to-construct application for a transmission project.  Same theme again, revenue requirement, cost of service.

If I can highlight Unwin (ph) and Carruthers, this was a project I did to value a utility in the Turks and Caicos.  And just to point out the last sentence in that one, I appeared as an expert valuation witness in an arbitration proceeding under the umbrella of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.  So I was accepted as an expert witness in that event, that project.

What other ones?  Moving on to page 4, there is another Enbridge Gas Distribution project where I worked looking at the -- putting together a proposal for Nova Scotia -- to get the franchise rights for Nova Scotia Power.  Again, another revenue requirement, cost of service build-up calculation.

Moving on to page 5, IGPC Ethanol; this was a gas utility, and again reviewing the rate case that was submitted by NRG on behalf of IGPC.

I mean, I can keep going if you want --


MR. O'LEARY:  I think that's -- gives us a good sense.

Let me simply ask you something in a general level.  Is there anything about the work that you performed for Enbridge under this particular retainer which you consider that you did not have the appropriate experience or skills to undertake?

MR. WINSTONE:  No.

MR. O'LEARY:  And in terms of similarity to prior experience and projects, how you would you describe it?

MR. WINSTONE:  It's a variation on the same theme.  It's cost of service build-up, it's rate base, it's revenue requirement; it is just a different angle of doing the same thing.  It's a rate impact and what, you know, looking at the deferral of a capital investments, just a different variation.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Winstone.

Madam Chair, yesterday I asked that Mr. Winstone be qualified to give expert evidence in respect of regulatory and financial modelling.

I mean, that what is what this gentleman has done, both in this case and in other cases.

Obviously, that qualification is limited to areas that are set out in the evidence and are relevant to this proceeding.  But it's my view that remains an appropriate means of qualifying -- or a title for his qualifications, and I would ask for him to be qualified in those areas.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Just for clarity for the record, you are asking Mr. Winstone to be qualified as an expert in regulatory and financial modelling?

MR. O'LEARY:  In respect of, in this case specifically, the avoided distribution infrastructure financial analysis model he prepared, and is the source of the figures which were generated as a result.

I didn't think the latter part would necessarily have to be added, because that is the question of relevance and it is your determination as to what is relevant.  I thought that was self-evident.

MS. LONG:  I want to be very clear for the record.

MR. O'LEARY:  Absolutely.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, I placed in front of you and given to my friend two documents.  One is a transcript excerpt from the technical conference.  I don't think these need exhibit numbers; they are already in the record.  And the other is an article that my friend has already referred to, written by Mr. Justice Farley, now with McCarthy Tétrault.

MS. LONG:  I would like to just mark those, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we will mark the transcript reference as Exhibit K7.1 and the article from Mr. Justice Farley as K7.2.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  Technical conference Transcript excerpt

EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  Article by Mr. Justice Farley


MR. POCH:  My friend is right.  The leading case on this is Mohan, and I thought this article would be helpful to the Board because it is actually in English.

Let me begin this way.  The reason to qualify someone as an expert witness in a particular matter is so they can offer opinion evidence.  They don't need to be an expert witness to appear before you and say here's the sums we've added up, here's what we did.

Routinely, you hear from utility witnesses who aren't being qualified as an expert witnesses; they can speak to the facts.

The difference here is you are being asked to place a special cloak on this witness so that he can give you opinion evidence that you can rely on.

In this case, our concern is that he could give you opinion evidence on his and on Enbridge's methodology and judgments in developing avoided costs.

And in the transcript excerpt I gave you, you will see this question of methodology came up on page 113, line 15.  Mr. Chernick and I are asking questions, and just, I reference this just so you have the context.  It says -- I was asking about the avoided T&D costs:

"Are you saying that this T&D technology, what Navigant did was implementing a methodology that had been presented and detailed to the Board and approved?"

Of course, a lot of Mr. Chernick's evidence, as you will be aware, is the fact that we are looking at a black box that hasn't been previously reviewed by the Board at any level of detail and Mr. Chernick hasn't been given the opportunity to do that.

If you go overleaf at line 3, Ms. Oliver-Glasford says, "So I think, while it is not necessarily approved methodology yet, this particular study", and goes on.

The point being the methodology has not been approved, except in the most general sense, by this Board, and so that's an acknowledgement by the company to that effect.

There are methodological issues before you.  Mr. Chernick at page 38 of his evidence, Exhibit L.GEC.2, speaks of this problem of how carrying charges are dealt with, and as my friend has indicated, Mr. Winstone -- and I don't know if you -- this hasn't been given an exhibit number yet, but the night before last I received a six-page document of what is, in effect, a detailed rebuttal to Mr. Chernick's evidence, which I assume will form the basis of this panel's evidence in-chief, and on the last page it is referred to evidence-in-chief by Mr. Winstone, and there he opines on this -- he questions this question of what he did with carrying charge.  He is responding on that very issue of this methodological question.

So let me get then to the law.  As we've -- my friend and I agreed, Mohan is the leading case, Supreme Court of Canada decision.  In the excerpt -- in the report I -- rather, the article I've placed before you, it is discussed right on -- starting in the first page near the bottom, and the test is there.  It is this four-part test:

"Admission of expert evidence depends on the application of the following criteria:  relevance, necessity in assessing -- in assisting the trier of fact, the absence of an exclusionary rule," which isn't applicable here, "and a properly qualified expert."

And if you go overleaf, the test is more particularly set out.  This is the wording from -- again, from Mohan.  It is the third paragraph, second full paragraph on that page, where he says:
"The evidence must be given by a witness who is shown to have acquired special or peculiar knowledge through study or experience in respect of the matters on which he or she undertakes to testify."

So that is the key test about expertise.

Going on at the bottom of that same page, Mr. Justice Farley quotes from Mr. Justice Binnie, also from the Supreme Court of Canada, in the R v. JLJ case, and here they're talking about -- well, first of all, I should say, Mr. Chernick, at page 30 of his evidence, refers to the idiosyncratic approach that Navigant used.  It is important to understand the context here as set out in great length in Mr. Chernick's evidence.  We asked for access to the data, the live spreadsheets, the working papers, so we could understand and Mr. Chernick could analyze for us what was precisely done and whether it was done properly.

My friend took the position -- we made that request way back when.  In fact, we made it in May long before the deadline for interrogatories in this case to give them an opportunity.  We didn't get an answer until the deadline for responses, which was, you can have some things but you can't have that.

We took it up at the technical conference, and it was offered that they would give us further information but, in fact, we did not receive -- and there is long recitals from that discussion in Mr. Chernick's evidence, where Mr. O'Leary took the position that's not really before the Board here, and they refused to give us access.

Of course, at that point it was too late in the day for to us bring a motion and have it resolved in time for it to be able to get access and put it into Mr. Chernick's evidence, so we had no remedy at that point, no effective remedy at that point.

So Mr. Chernick says there is an idiosyncratic approach, and if we turn then to the law on that, I was just going to go to R v. JLJ, bottom of page 2 of that article, and there the relevant law is about when there's a question of a novel approach, novel science, and whether experts should be able to speak to that and whether there is -- and there is this reliable foundation test that is borrowed from the American law, and the question is whether the -- as is enumerated, whether the theory or technique can be and has been tested, whether the theory or technique has been subject to peer review and publication, whether the theory or technique used has been generally accepted.


So one of the issues before you, as Mr. Chernick is saying, this is an idiosyncratic approach.  This is not the standard methodology for avoided cost, and we're concerned that we're going to get into a debate in front of you about this question of novel theory, which requires, you know, an expert to tell you whether this is -- meets these tests.

In fact, if you look further on page 3 there is a recital from R v. Abbey (ph) with again, Supreme Court of Canada and Mr. Justice Dickson.  He says:
"It is important when considering whether expert testimony is warranted" --

Mr. Justice Farley says that, and then the excerpt from Dickson:
"With respect to matters calling for special knowledge, an expert in the field may draw inferences and state his opinion.  An expert's function is precisely this:  to provide the judge and jury with a ready-made inference which judge and jury, due to the technical nature of the facts, are unable to formulate."

And in this case you may be unable to formulate because you don't have access to that black box, either.

"An expert's opinion is admissible to furnish the court with scientific information which would likely be outside the experience or knowledge of a judge or jury.  If on the proven facts a judge or jury can form their own conclusions without help, then the opinion of the expert is unnecessary."

And Mr. Justice Farley says:
"I would note in passing that it's not necessary to have an expert merely make some arithmetical calculations."

So if all we're getting here is some arithmetic calculations, nothing is new, nothing is novel, it is not a question of methodology, we don't need to qualify this witness as an expert.

The point that my friend wants to make here by qualifying him as an expert is that he wants you to be able to rely on his experience and peculiar knowledge, test in law, to say that methodology is okay.

As I've indicated, a lot of that detail isn't on the record.  It wasn't provided to us.  It isn't on the record here.  So what you're being asked to do is rely on the opinion of somebody who has had access to all that to tell you it's all fine.

In that situation, it's vital that you be able to have faith in that -- in the qualification and the experience of that person, because you're not getting to assess it, and in this case, other experts haven't had the opportunity to assess it, at least not in full detail.

If you go over then -- rather, if you look at the bottom of page 3 of the article, the last full paragraph, halfway through it says:
"All too often judge-alone trials..."


And the reference there is that where you've got a trier of fact and law, like yourselves, who are not going to be, you know, easily wowed, like a jury, which is the risk with a jury.

"...in that situation, if proffered evidence is questioned, one hears the refrain of:  'Well, I will let it in, and it will just go to weight.'"

And Mr. Justice Farley says:
"The fact of the matter is if it is not admissible, it does not even get put on the weighing machine."

And then he recites Mr. Justice Binnie of the Supreme Court of Canada and even before that observes he's not even sure Binnie has got it strict enough here, and he says:
"The court has emphasised the trial judge should take seriously the role of gatekeeper.  The admissibility of expert evidence should be scrutinized at the time it is proffered, and not allowed too easy an entry on the basis that all the frailties could go at the end of the day to weight, rather than admissibility."

Finally, at the bottom of page 4, there is the observation:
"It is important that the qualification of an expert witness be carefully scrutinized and that, if accepted, the area of expertise is suitably restricted.  Too often counsel in a case will accept a witness as an expert in a wide open category that allows the witness to wander outside the scope of his qualification."

And that's really what we're talking about here.  I'm not disputing that Mr. Winstone has expertise in a number of areas of regulatory economics.  We've heard any number of places where his CV says he's done revenue requirement and cost of service, but none where he's done avoided cost.

I would just make a few other comments in response to my friend.  My friend said had we known there was going to be a challenge, we would have been -- the situation would have been different.

Well, Madam Chair, Panel, we received Mr. Winstone's CV for the first time yesterday at 2:28 in the afternoon.  Had we known, we might have raised this earlier, too.  But we weren't given an opportunity.

My friend says you're being asked to muzzle the witness.  No, you are not being asked to muzzle the witness; you're being asked to limit the witness to facts, not opinion.

My friend says the magnitude of what's at stake here isn't big enough.  Well, I'm not sure that's a relevant consideration here.  Either this is a relevant issue or it's not.

In fact, Madam Chair, the magnitude is very significant here because while it may be a relatively small component of avoided cost, I think the numbers we've heard -- as I recall from when Union was taking them, there was 1.3 and 4.3 percent of avoided costs attributable to distribution by Enbridge, that is the portion of avoided cost that is what offsets rate impacts as a portion of -- to the ones they've considered at least.  We're suggesting there are another offsetting impacts, but of the ones that the company has considered, that's the portion that offsets rate impacts, which you've heard throughout this case is a fundamental limiting issue.  The $2 test is the fundamental limiting issue on budget and what these utilities have put forward.

So a small change there is very significant.  Avoided costs are something like $250 million a year, the benefits; 4 or 5 percent of that is whatever that works out to -- if it's 10 percent, if would be $25 million. It would be a third of the budget offset.  So, you know, the difference between 10 percent and 5 percent is very significant.

My friend also -- I'm sorry, the witness also stated that he developed a financial model to value deferral due to DSM.  That's exactly the methodological area that we're concerned about.  That's -- and there is that issue of carrying charge, which is about deferral.

He said to do that, he researched other jurisdictions and reviewed past methodology used by Enbridge.

So it's not just a matter of taking standard -- he didn't feel it was a matter of taking standard cost of service information and just plugging it into a spreadsheet that he already had.  He felt he needed to see what they do in other jurisdictions, and what Enbridge has done in the past on avoided cost.  It is not the same thing.

Madam Chair, I renew my request that this expert's testimony be limited to facts and not opinion evidence on the matters pertaining to avoided cost and methodology.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  One moment please, Mr. O'Leary.

[Board Panel confers]


Mr. O'Leary, Member Duff has a question she want to pose and, in fairness, I'd like her to ask that question and then give you an opportunity to do reply.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  Just turning to Navigant's evidence, so I think we should turn it up.  It is Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 4 and, in particular, page 4 -- there's just a statement that you made earlier, Mr. Winstone, and in particular, the scope of your review.

In the executive summary here, it appears in the first sentence of the second paragraph:
"During the initial discovery stage of this assignment, it was determined that Enbridge's upstream or transmission avoided costs are already fully and accurately captured in their existing avoided cost analysis."

I do not understand the words "it was determined".  Could you perhaps explain the role of Enbridge versus Navigant?

MR. WINSTONE:  As part of the process that we went through for this project, we had a number of workshops.  And the initial scope of work that we had when we -- at the onset of this project was both upstream and downstream.

But as we started to get into the project and we were discussing Enbridge's existing avoided cost calculation, it became apparent that that existing avoided cost number that they calculate includes all the upstream costs; the commodity, the storage and the transportation to the city gate.

So that's when the scope of work was revised from being -- to just below the city gate.

MS. DUFF:  And it was Navigant's suggestion?  That's what I'm trying to understand.  Was it Navigant's suggestion that the scope be limited to the distribution because of what you've just said?

MR. WINSTONE:  I wouldn't say it was because of what I said.  It was more -- we wanted to ensure we weren't going to double-count, right?

If those costs were already effectively covered in the upstream -- in the existing avoided cost calculations that Enbridge had put together, we didn't want to double-count it in the work that we did.

MS. DUFF:  And in your experience -- and you've provided a number of references of different jurisdiction studies you've done with revenue requirement and cost of service.  The carrying charge; is there any particular reference you can draw out where the actual value of the discount rate that you're applying, the time value of money became dependent on the type of, you know, cash flow or dollars that you were discounting?

Can you draw out from your experience a case in which that was at issue?

MR. WINSTONE:  I'm not sure where you're going.  Are you concerned about the magnitude of the discount rate?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. WINSTONE:  It's always, the magnitude of a discount rate is always important.  If you are just applying a carrying charge, then yes, nominal versus real is critical.

In the case -- if you're looking at revenue requirement which is --


MS. DUFF:  So specifically on that --


MR. WINSTONE:  Yes?

MS. DUFF:  -- have you been involved in an engagement where the nominal versus real was at issue?

MR. WINSTONE:  I mean, it's always an issue.  I'm not -- I may be missing the question here.  I apologize.

MS. DUFF:  Fair enough, I just wanted to understand.

MR. WINSTONE:  It is always a critical factor.  I mean, if you are calculating levellized cost, knowing whether it's nominal or a discount rate depends on whether you are dealing with nominal or real cash flows. Everything -- I mean, it has to check.

MS. DUFF:  Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I might, there is a perhaps further explanation that would respond to Ms. Duff's question about who determined that the transportation and storage costs were included in commodity, because that really is going to be a question I would put to other members of the panel.  But subject to that being confirmed, the process that occurred was that Navigant was retained to look at both transportation and distribution costs, and it was ultimately determined within Enbridge that the transportation and storage components were already included in its commodity costs and therefore the retainer was narrowed.  That's ultimately what resulted in the limited report that was there.

If I may also, in response to your question, Ms. Duff, can I ask:  Without you providing opinion evidence, Mr. Winstone, in terms of the carrying charge, do you tell us what it is, in fact, you did in terms of trying to determine the appropriate evaluation infrastructure?  You didn't use a carrying charge, but instead did what?

MR. WINSTONE:  I looked -- I wanted to reflect the perspective of the ratepayer, and the ratepayer is subject to the revenue -- the revenue requirement that's ultimately paid.  The ratepayer is not subject to a carrying charge, so that's ultimately why I went to that calculation.  I felt it was a more accurate reflection of the ratepayer costs, the revenue, so I wanted to calculate it in terms of revenue requirement, not a carrying charge.

MR. O'LEARY:  So if I may then just briefly respond to my friend's comments, and the old expression, if you can't win on the facts, quote the law, and if you can't win on the law, confuse, confuse, confuse, and that's what, with respect, I believe I heard a lot of.

First of all, I read and quoted the Supreme Court of Canada, and the word -- in terms of the qualification of a witness.  That is the test in Canada.  Justice Farley has added a word "peculiar".  That is not in the Supreme Court of Canada's test, so to suggest that that is the test is inappropriate.

Secondly, my friend read to you the bottom of the page of the McCarthy Tétrault Exhibit K7.2, and that deals with the admissibility of expert evidence, and he appropriately referred to the four items there.

The first is relevance, which I mentioned to you, and that is your prerogative to determine what is relevant, but the fourth is, for it to be admissible, it has to be by a properly qualified expert.

So the quote I gave you relates specifically to that test, and it simply is "a person who is shown to have acquired special or particular knowledge through study or experience in respect of the matters on which he or she undertakes to testify".  That is the wording in the Supreme Court of Canada.  Our submission is, Madam Chair, that this witness has those qualifications.

My friend then tried to confuse you in terms of the information they were asking at the technical conference and what Mr. Winstone was asked to do.  Certainly they were looking for Enbridge's complete SENDOUT model, which would give them, they believe, some information that would support their arguments in respect of this demand reduction phenomenon that they're talking about, and that does not relate to avoided distribution infrastructure cost.  So my friend is confusing the matter by suggesting that there was something at the technical conference which they asked for which relates to these avoided costs.

In fact, their evidence is all about taking the costs that they alleged were load-related for the GTA and adding it back in now to the avoided distribution costs for this proceeding.

We are going to come to that when it comes time to cross-examining Mr. Chernick, but that evidence is theirs.  They did not look to Enbridge to provide them any particulars on that front, so there is absolutely no justification for Mr. Poch to suggest that we have not provided information that's necessary for him to know what Mr. Winstone is going to say.

He then referred to Mr. Chernick's description of what Mr. Winstone did as idiosyncratic, and to suggest that that means that there's some evidence or some suggestion that you should take comfort in, knowing that what Mr. Winstone had done is novel.  Well, you haven't even heard from Mr. Winstone, so you are listening to an adverse party describing it as novel, and he's suggesting that you should rely on that, their description of what he did as being novel, as the basis to exclude hearing his opinion on what he did and why he did it.  And that would be extraordinary, because -- I come back to my original point, is that in this process there has been no opportunity for Mr. Winstone to reply.

So if Mr. Poch is right, they get the last say and Enbridge does not have an opportunity to respond to Mr. Chernick's critiques.

Madam Chair, those are our submissions.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, my friend just suggested I misquoted the Supreme Court.  I'd like to correct the record on that.  I have the decision of the Supreme Court in front of me.  I'm going to read the exact words, and I'm happy to pass my computer to Mr. Millar if you'd like a verification, and the words are on -- this is on page 25 of 1994 2 SCR:

"Finally, the evidence must be given by a witness who is shown to have acquired special or peculiar knowledge through study or experience in respect of the matters on which he or she undertakes to testify."

So I'd just like the record to be clear that I did not misquote the Supreme Court on that matter.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. O'Leary, anything to add?

MR. O'LEARY:  No, Madam Chair, those are our submissions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  We are going to take a break.  I would expect that we might be longer than 20 minutes.  Parties may want to come back and check in 20 minute.  We may be longer.  You can check with Mr. Millar.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:16 a.m.
-- On resuming at 10:59 a.m.

MS. LONG:  The Panel will accept Mr. Winstone as an expert in the areas of regulatory and financial modelling.  We are not accepting Mr. Winstone in the area of avoided cost methodology as it relates to distribution, so he will not be qualified as an expert in that area.

The Board is not convinced, based on what it has heard, that the witness has the acquired knowledge or expertise necessary to provide the Board with opinion evidence that would further our understanding of avoided costs.

Mr. Winstone, please ensure that your responses are factually based, and limited to the areas where you have been qualified as an expert witness.

Mr. Poch, to the extent that you are going to ask questions regarding avoided cost methodology that requires opinion evidence, these questions should not be posed to Mr. Winstone.

You will need to direct your questions regarding avoided cost to the company.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, now we can proceed with the panel, and I do have some brief evidence-in-chief by this panel.

If I could begin, we could -- I'm reminded that we did circulate a written summary of the evidence-in-chief, as my friend Mr. Poch noted several days ago, and it is now, I believe, on the Board's website.  So perhaps it should be marked as an exhibit.

MS. LONG:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  K7.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.3:  WRITTEN SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE-IN-CHIEF FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 4

MR. O'LEARY:  If I could turn -- well, first of all, I neglected to ask those new witnesses that are on the panel to actually identify what their positions are at the company.

So perhaps, Mr. Welburn, I could start with you?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, I am the manager of gas supply and strategy.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Mills?

MS. MILLS:  I am a program design advisor.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Thompson?

MS. THOMPSON:  I am manager of distribution planning.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  So let me can start with you, Ms. Thompson.  Can you please comment on Mr. Chernick's revisions to Enbridge's avoided distribution costs identified in Exhibit L.GEC.2, table 8, on page 41?

MS. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chernick completed a review of Enbridge's avoided distribution costs, and concluded that they should have been 3.4 to 4.7 times higher than the cost Enbridge used.

I would like to demonstrate that Enbridge appropriately reflected the avoided distribution costs, and that no revisions need to be made, apart from the ones that have been indicated by Enbridge.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt, but it seems to me the witness is simply reading what is now pre-filed piece of evidence.  I don't object to that.  I'm wondering if we can take this as read.

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, there may be people listening in to this proceeding that may not have had an opportunity to review it, and I'm not certain that Ms. Thompson intended to read everything.

Therefore, my request would be that she continue to respond to the question asked.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.

MS. THOMPSON:  Starting with table 8 on page 41 under "corrections", Mr. Chernick refers to area 10 and appendix B.  These were inadvertent omissions that were identified during the course of the interrogatory responses.

These omissions amount to approximately $55 million, which is a 27 percent increase to the costs that were originally provided to Navigant.

It is important to note that this 27 percent increase results in a marginal increase to the avoided distribution cost adder of less than 1 percent in the water heating and industrial load profiles, and less than 2 percent in space heating and space and water heating load profiles, as indicated in response to JT1.28.

Enbridge is currently in the --

MS. LONG:  Ms. Thompson, I'm sorry to interrupt. Perhaps you could just slow down, just for the benefit of the court reporter.

MS. THOMPSON:  Sure.  Enbridge is currently in the process of doing a complete update to the reinforcement project list for the Q4 input assumption update.

Enbridge feels that it is appropriate, since the identification of the project is now up to two to three years old, and many changes can occur over time within a distribution system that would change the reinforcements.

Moving on to the 2010 to 2012 revisions, Mr. Chernick compared the 2010 to 2012 asset plan actuals to the 2010 to 2012 actuals provided to Navigant as an input to the avoided distribution cost.  Mr. Chernick concluded that 17.4 million was missing from the information provided to Navigant.

The main point I would like to raise here is that all reinforcement projects are not necessarily an avoided cost in relation to DSM.  The actual costs from 2010 to 2014 were reviewed in that manner to identify the true avoided costs to ensure that the avoided distribution costs were a reasonable derivation of the cost that fit into this category, and were not inflated or deflated.

For the GTA project, Mr. Chernick concluded that the additional GTA project costs should be included in the avoided distribution costs above and beyond the costs that were already included for load growth.

I can confirm that the portion attributable to load growth was included in the avoided distribution costs.

In general, the Board's GTA project decision acknowledged that the project addressed multiple needs.  The GTA project costs that addressed these other objectives, such as increasing supply change diversity and flexibility, were not included since they would not be an avoided cost.

This addresses all the corrections that Mr. Chernick noted in this table 8.

In summary, the only revision that needs to be made is the inclusion of projects that were missed by Enbridge following the full update to the reinforcement projects, which were identified as I noted earlier, and were included in the Enbridge's response to undertaking JT1.28.

All other line items should go to zero dollars.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Thompson, if I could just stop you there.  When you refer to all other line items should go to zero dollars, are you referring to Mr. Chernick's proposed revisions to the avoided infrastructure cost?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Now, can I now ask you to comment on Mr. Chernick's conclusions in respect to the inclusion of O&M avoided cost?

MS. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chernick suggests that Enbridge should have included O&M costs for 1 percent of the investment.

Enbridge used zero percent, since the incremental pipe installed per year is not considered in the development of the annual O&M budget, as mentioned in the response to GEC interrogatory 59.

Mr. Chernick looked back to the O&M cost for the GTA project, and noticed that $13 million of O&M was identified for the $687 million project.

This O&M cost expressed as percentage in relation to the total project cost is 1 to 2 percent, as Mr. Chernick stated in his evidence.

It is important to note that the majority of the $13 million of O&M costs is directly related to the attachment of the forecasted customers, such as costs to support customer care and billing.

Since DSM does not aim to defer or avoid the attachment of customers, only the costs associated with the reinforcements should be considered in this calculation.

Using Mr. Chernick's approach, the applicable percentage drops to 0.01 percent with a portion of segment B that is attributable to load growth, which is immaterial.

This confirms the use of zero percent O&M inception for the avoided distribution cost calculation.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Ms. Thompson.  Mr. Chernick also made several comments and recommendations in respect to the inclusion of relocation, replacement mains, and sales mains in respect of the avoided distribution costs.  Do you have any comments in respect to his suggestions?

MS. THOMPSON:  In the development of the avoided distribution costs, Enbridge referenced back to a previous filing, EBRO 487, which is filed at Exhibit I.T9. EGDI.GEC.51, attachment 1.

On page 21 of this attachment, it outlines the categories of distribution made expenditures, reinforcement sales, relocation and replacement.

Through the course of this initial study, it was determined that the reinforcement mains were the primary category of avoided distribution system costs affected by load reduction, and therefore the company generally limited the inputs to this expenditure type.

I should mention that, to the extent that Enbridge knew about the upcoming projects that were upsized to accommodate future growth, the costs associated with the growth component were included in the forecast provided to Navigant.

In summary, Enbridge feels that it has been consistent with the inputs to the avoided distribution costs as compared to previous years.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  In Mr. Chernick's evidence he referenced a relocation project that he alleges added capacity to the system.  This project was identified as the Municipality of York pipeline, EB-2011-0270.

Can you please comment on Mr. Chernick's observations as to whether aspects of that project should be considered load-related?

MS. THOMPSON:  Enbridge had a 4-inch and an 8-inch line along 9th Line in Markham near 19th Avenue.  The region was widening 9th Line from two lanes to four lines and asked Enbridge to relocate the two gas mains and only install only one main in its place.

To maintain the capacity of the 4-inch and 8-inch with one gas main, Enbridge at minimum had to replace it with a 12-inch, since the company does not install 10-inch pipe.

The increased capacity of the 12-inch was incidental to the replacement project and not driven by load.

MR. O'LEARY:  One final question, Ms. Thompson.  I note that in your attempt to try and move matters along you did not specifically refer to absolutely every paragraph that was included in the written pre-filed.

For the purposes of the record, do you adopt the written record as well?

MS. THOMPSON:  I do.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  If I may now turn to you, Mr. Welburn; could I ask you if you have any comments about the position that has been advanced by GEC in relation to the price suppression effects, or DRIPE, that you would like to comment upon.

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, thank you.  The supply and transportation price impacts resulting from a reduction in demand that were discussed by GEC are the result of only looking at a few select considerations.

If the Board is to consider such impacts it will be important to take a more broad perspective of market influences.  One example would be to consider the implications of lower commodity costs.

If there is a decrease in market prices as a result of Enbridge's DSM programs, there is the potential for lower commodity prices to influence the level of natural gas production.  Should natural gas production decline, it could lead to an increase in natural gas prices.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And based upon your experience with the gas-supply group at Enbridge, do you have any views about whether Enbridge's DSM programs have resulted in price suppression across North America?

MR. WELBURN:  Although we have -- excuse me, although we have considered the concept of price suppression effects when evaluating the commodity price information that is provided to us by independent third-party experts, we are not aware of any studies specific to the markets that we operate in.  We do not believe there is sufficient information to make that determination, especially given the complexity of having storage near our franchise and unique nature of services, such as the multi-point balancing that's been discussed, that's offered by Union Gas to the direct-purchase customers.

It is also important to consider the magnitude of Enbridge's DSM program, which makes up less than 1 percent of the company's annual demand.  It is not clear at this time if the demand reduction of that magnitude will influence prices in a meaningful way, if at all, given the more significant impact that other factors, such as weather and new infrastructure that is being proposed and developed and that continues to increase integration of North America's market.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Welburn.

If I could turn to you, Mr. Winstone, and I just have one question.  That is that Mr. Chernick made a comment about Navigant's use of a real carrying charge in its avoided distribution cost study, and I'm just wondering if you could identify, and I think we've already -- if you've been there, but if you could confirm once again what actually occurred in terms of the financial modelling that you did?

MR. WINSTONE:  Yes, Mr. Chernick concludes that Navigant incorrectly uses a real carrying charge, whereas it should have used a nominal carrying charge.  He then goes on to make an adjustment for the difference between the real and nominal rate in his avoided cost calculation, so this adjustment is not correct, because Navigant's methodology does not include a carrying charge.  The Navigant methodology calculates the difference between the revenue requirement attributable to the deferral of a capital investment, so as such, no adjustment to Navigant's calculation is necessary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, and then one final question to yourself, Mr. Welch.  Mr. Neme in his evidence on behalf of GEC made certain observations about the methodology you used for the development of the potential study that Navigant completed for Enbridge.

Do you have any comments in respect of Mr. Neme's critiques?

MR. WELCH:  Yes, yes, I do, thank you.  Thank you for the opportunity.

The methodology that we use for this potential study has been employed in over 20 utilities in North America.  It uses very well-established protocols, industry best practices, protocols for cost-effectiveness analyzes that are accepted throughout the industry.

It is being used -- this methodology is currently being used in the state of California for all four investor-owned utilities.  Arguably the state of California is one of the North America's leading sets of jurisdictions regarding energy efficiency.  They have a rigorous stakeholder review and vetting process, and therefore we do have a very high degree of confidence that our methodology, to use Mr. Poch's words, are proven, tested, and accepted in the industry; in contrast, I must note, with the alternate proposed methodologies, such as those proposed by -- cited in Mr. Neme's testimony.  He cites an Enerlife study.

I would submit that that study is not proven, it is not tested, and it is not generally accepted in the industry as a method by which you can assess the potential for savings in a service territory.

I would -- there are five bullets in his testimony that Mr. Neme points to, and I would like to address simply one of those, because he spends so much time on it, and it is so factually incorrect.

I will note that one of the reasons I am responding in this manner is that he makes -- Mr. Neme makes a very strong statement in his testimony.  It would be EB-2015-0049, Exhibit L.GEC.1, page 22.  At the bottom of the third paragraph he suggests that:
"Enbridge's recent potential study is fraught with so many methodological problems that it has almost no value for informing conclusions regarding achievable savings potential."

He then goes on to list five bullets of why he believes that is the case.  He spend the most amount of territory, or verbiage, if you will, on the very first item.  The very first item he suggests that our methodology for estimating the savings due to retirements of measures is calculational error in his estimation.  He calls it specifically, quote, a mathematical error, and he further says this leads to underestimates of savings potential.

I would like to respond to that by suggesting that the contrary is true.  Mr. Neme proposes a methodology by which we are forced to assume that if we have an existing stock of equipment, for instance, of, say, 100 boilers or 100 water heaters, his methodology would force us to assume that exactly 100 percent of those technologies have failed within the estimated useful lifetime of that measure.  That is the only way that his calculations can be correct.

I submit that that will result in a systematic bias and overestimation of savings potential, and the reason is, is that measures do not fail at exactly their lifetime.  If a measure has a lifetime of ten years, some will fail at shorter times, some will fail at longer times.

Mr. Neme acknowledges this fact in his testimony, in the footnote, by stating that for equipment that has an average measure life of 25 years, a very small number will last only a few years, the lemons, some will last 15 years, some 20, some 30, and some 40 or 50 or more.

That statement of his is in direct contradiction with his assertion that the only way to calculate savings from measures is to take credit for 100 percent of the turnover within the lifetime of that measure.

So his method actually results in a systematic bias and overestimation of savings.  Our method actually accounts for the fact that there is a distribution of lifetimes around an average, and the methods by which I calculate that average are well-established in the literature.

I have written a paper at ACEEE discussing this methodology, which cites textbooks written by professors at MIT regarding this methodology.

And the reason I make such an issue of this is that Mr. Neme seems to be giving a great deal of weight to his assertion that there is a mathematical error and fundamental flaw in our methodology, when I would assert that his understanding is based on simply a mistaken assumption about how to calculate the appropriate failure of technologies over time, an area in which I have extensive experience and have published literature.

There are four other bullets; in the interest of time, I won't get into those.  I welcome questions on those four other bullets of Mr. Neme's questioning our methodology and our assumptions.  I am happy to discuss those further.

But in the interests of time, I will limit my comments to that one item in an attempt to simply point out the fact that Mr. Neme's understanding in this area is imperfect.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Welch.  Madam Chair, that is the evidence-in-chief.  The panel is now open for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Mr. Poch?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I was going to say good morning, panel, but it is almost afternoon.  David Poch on behalf of the Green Energy Coalition.

First of all, at a high level, do you agree that if we underestimate avoided costs, we are undervaluing conservation?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In theoretical terms, perhaps that is true, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And one consequence of underestimating avoidable costs is when you are doing conservation potential studies, we may miss certain measure or program opportunities and thereby underestimate the achievable potential?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That could be the case.  However, in our potential study analysis, we did do a number of is sensitivities to try to understand what that change might be, including looking at carbon -- including considering the price of carbon up to $60.

And when you change some of those factors, the change on achievable potential does not vary significantly, simply because you are adding in more measures which may be at the margins of that portfolio, or the cost effective portfolio.

And, you know, we've done potential study which showed us a similar thing back in 2008, where there is not a lot of technologies that are right at the margins of our portfolio.  There are some that are drastically -- you know, they're just not cost effective, and even with, you know, five or ten percent in avoided costs, it would not drastically change what is included in the portfolio.

MR. POCH:  I wasn't descending into your study yet, but thank you for that.

Would you agree that another consequence of undervaluing -- underestimating avoided costs is that in delivering programs, there may be certain measures that you would not install that would otherwise -- and therefore, you'll achieve lower savings?  There may be measures that are deemed not cost effective that could be with higher avoided costs?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Certainly, we hope to support those measures which are cost effective.

However, I would note that we do screen our DSM at the portfolio level, which provides us the flexibility and allowance to support those projects or measures that are not deemed cost effective on their own.

MR. POCH:  Sometimes we talk about avoidable costs interchangeably with the gross benefits of conservation as measured in the TRC test.  In other words, for a given amount of savings, we multiply it by the applicable avoided costs and that translates into a given level of a million dollars of TRC benefits; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, you're just looking to confirm whether the avoided costs translate to a value?

MR. POCH:  I'm just looking at -- in a sense, we can use these terms interchangeably.  The gross benefits of conservation in your TRC tests are your avoided costs?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The gross societal benefits, yes.

MR. POCH:  And by that, you mean the ones that are captured in your TRC plus test?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  But then if we use the TRC test as opposed to the TRC plus, it would just be the gross benefits to ratepayers?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I understand that your TRC gross benefits in 2018, for example, are in the range of about $230 million.  Does that sound about right?  Again, we're not looking for precision.  I can tell you that I took that from Exhibit B2, tab 2, schedule 3, page 5, if you need to pull that up.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Which page are you looking at?

MR. POCH:  Page 5 of B2, tab 2, schedule 3.  That was your 2018 page.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  You can confirm that 230 million is --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now yesterday, I think it was, you had said 90 percent of gas avoided costs are commodity, and the Panel asked for a little clarification.  I'm still a bit confused as to what you were referring to, so could you tell us what the 10 percent is comprised of?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So this is where I'll have to have my panellists speak to you a little bit more about that.  But again, my understanding is that a significant portion of those natural gas avoided costs are the commodity.

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, when we looked at the upstream avoided costs, we categorized them to storage, transportation and commodity.  And when we had done the analysis and looked at the various three buckets, the commodity costs made up over 90 percent, as compared to the storage and the transportation components.

MR. POCH:  I think we've clarified, then.  We're talking about the upstream, if you will, costs including gas commodity.  That's what your 90 percent refers to.  The denominator would be what I've just stated, as opposed to the distribution infrastructure avoided costs, for example?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, would you repeat the question?

MR. POCH:  Your 90 percent, the denominator there was -- the numerator was gas commodity, the denominator was just as we've just heard, the have a various upstream aspects, the commodity plus storage, what have you?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That was my understanding, that the order was 90 percent based on the discussions, yes.

MR. POCH:  So then in addition we have downstream avoidable costs, which would be predominantly, one assumes, the distribution infrastructure avoided cost; correct?

MR. WELBURN:  I guess it depends on what specific table you'd be referring, then, to.

MR. POCH:  I'm not referring to a table.  I'm just talking about what's in avoided costs.

We've heard there is -- we've got this have this 90-10 split of what's upstream including commodity, and now there's an addition, there's a component of avoided costs that is downstream, that is the avoidable distribution infrastructure costs.

MS. MILLS:  So if you are referring to the avoided costs, the commodity, the storage and the transportation, they are what we would classify as our avoided gas cost, plus we have a avoided distribution cost adder that we've incorporated.

So I'm not too clear about the upstream versus the downstream, but there are those two components.

MR. POCH:  And that adder is the number we've heard earlier in the case with Union.  They've adopted some of your numbers, and I think they were something like a 1.3 percent adder for industrial loads, and 4.3 -- I may have the numbers a little wrong here, but 4.3 for space and water heating loads.

MS. MILLS:  Unfortunately, I can't speak to exactly what Union adopted as far as their adder.  But, you know, subject to check I would assume --


MR. POCH:  No, I wasn't asking you what they adopted -


MS. MILLS:  Okay.


MR. POCH:  -- I was -- they expressed that those were Enbridge's numbers.  In fact, they didn't use that, they used 2 percent, but --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. POCH:  But I just wanted to confirm that those are the Enbridge numbers we're talking about for --


MS. MILLS:  The Enbridge numbers, they are in that ratio depending on the load profile you're looking at, correct.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Those are the ballpark numbers that you've developed.


MS. MILLS:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  And I think it's been agreed earlier, but make sure you all agree, that some of the avoided cost benefits go to participants, the bulk of them, the commodity fraction of avoided costs, for example, and some of them go to all ratepayers, and an example of that would be avoidable distribution costs; correct?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Perhaps, yes, but right now they're applied to the participants using the TRC test.


MR. POCH:  No, I understand, but in the real world, in the real world, if you avoid some distribution infrastructure, and it's in your avoided costs, in the real world, all ratepayers will share in that savings.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not sure I can confirm, because in the real world there have been no deferral or offsets in natural gas utilities of pipelines that I'm aware of, so, you know, I think we're undertaking a theoretical exercise, so certainly on that basis I'll agree with you that's the aim, but in actual terms it hasn't yet been a benefit for non-participants.


MR. POCH:  So you are telling me you are not prepared to agree that when -- that DSM ever defers distribution infrastructure?  It's never done it on your system?  The billions of cubic metres you've reported to us that's been saved over the last 15 years, it's had no effect on distribution infrastructure?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think you may have asked that question of me in panel 1 or a similar type of question, and we don't have any certainty on that, and, you know, I did mention before -- and Ms. Thompson is the better person to speak to it in more detail -- but DSM savings are broad-based.  They are across the franchise area, and obviously to do GO-targeted deferral or offsets, that is a very different proposition and one that, you know, relies on us understanding peaks, planning around those peaks, and having a great deal of certainty around what we are going to achieve.


MR. POCH:  I can appreciate you may not know the number that has -- of -- put a number on it, but I just want an answer to my question.  Are you saying that all the DSM, these billions of cubic metres that we've spoken of over the years and that are persisting, haven't deferred any distribution infrastructure costs?


[Witness panel confers]


And let me just add to that:  Or are you saying you just don't know?  You haven't studied it well enough to know?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  You know, we have no certainty on that.  We certainly hope that we have made an impact, but we don't have a certainty.


MR. POCH:  All right, so the numbers I spoke of a minute ago, though, 1.3, the 4.3, what-have-you, the results of the analysis that Ms. Thompson did and then had assistance in the number-crunching with Navigant, you just aren't confident in those numbers?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Mr. Poch, as I mentioned before, we do support that study.  It is a theoretical exercise, and we undertook that proactively to try and provide guidance around what would -- what would be the magnitude of such an impact, so we certainly haven't avoided the issue, and, you know, we are continuously looking at it, but in terms of actually understand with any certainty what it might be in a given area or in certain terms, that requires study.  It requires our integrated resource planning study, for which we put together a comprehensive scope in the evidence that we filed, and it will take proper and measured approach to understanding this issue.


MR. POCH:  Well, I certainly don't disagree with you about that, the latter comment that it makes a proper and measured approach.


Would you agree with this, that if we don't have a complete picture of avoided costs or know what fraction -- what the fraction is that benefits all the ratepayers, then we can't understand the net rate impact on non-participants in any given year?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Perhaps there is something to that, in that we don't know with any certainty what those theoretical exercises have produced in terms of rate impacts, and again I would say that is something that we do need to look at as part of our integrated resource planning.


I would put forth that the major two areas in which we are going to have -- we are going to see any non-participant benefits from DSM is where there are targeted, you know, GO-targeted offset of development or where -- when and if the carbon cost comes in place.


Those are the two real examples that are material in this -- from my perspective, on non-participant benefits.


MR. POCH:  Let's move on to the modelling that you did with SENDOUT in your avoided costs, and first of all, let's just confirm, that's for what we called earlier in the conversation the upstream part of avoided costs, not the part that Navigant assisted with; correct?


MR. WELBURN:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And you've taken the position that -- you or your counsel have taken the position that testing much of the avoided cost derivation is detailed, it would be too detailed and time-consuming in this form, and that even though specific numbers and method have been vetted -- and we referred to a transcript, the actual transcript earlier in the -- during this -- the voir dire we had earlier -- that your position is that nevertheless the general approach has been accepted.  And I took that to mean that what you do is you do -- you take the difference between two runs of SENDOUT, where you decrement the load or increase the load, and that's the general approach you're referring to?


MR. WELBURN:  The approach that we are using to determine the avoided costs are the same approach that we used when we determine our cost for our annual rate applications, so the approach and the use of SENDOUT is something that we have been utilizing for a long period of time, and I guess that's what we're referring to by the methodology, which is how we use SENDOUT.


MR. POCH:  All right, but specifically to do your avoided costs for that portion of your -- you do two runs, you may do other sensitivity runs, but the method is you do two runs with SENDOUT, you change the load between the runs, and you see what the difference is; that's how you do it.


MR. WELBURN:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right, now, do you agree with what Mr. Chernick tells us that the SENDOUT model allows the user to tell the model how to handle -- well, handle many things, but included on the list would be whether capacity can be released, and if so, how much, and at what price, whether capacity or commodity can be sold off system, whether contract capacity can be revised over time, how much spot gas can be purchased without contracts, by way of example.  Those would be options in the SENDOUT model that you can change, or variables that you can set?


MR. WELBURN:  Yes, they are.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, we didn't get a chance to look at a live model, and so Mr. Chernick wasn't able to render an opinion as to whether you've set all those switches correctly.


So, in his conclusions -- and, Madam Chair, I'm now going to refer to our compendium, if I can find it, and perhaps we have an exhibit number for that.

MR. MILLAR:  K7.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.4:  CROSS EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF GEC FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 4

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  In his conclusions -- in fact, I don't think this is part is in the compendium, but my friend might be able to assist -- but it's page 6 of his recommendations, and I can read them to you.  He made a number of recommendations of what the Board should be thinking about in future.

I'm sorry, it is page 7 of our compendium, my apologies, and he suggests that the Board should -- I'm sorry, that's not the correct page.  I will read it from my notes.  I don't think it's controversial.

All right.  Let me put it this way:  Can we confirm that the Board and intervenors have not previously reviewed how you exercised your judgment on each of the following determinations in your model runs:


First of all, reductions in existing commitments to pipeline capacity?

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, are you asking me to confirm, going back for all of the SENDOUT runs that have been included in our applications to the Board, if these things have been looked at?

MR. POCH:  Well, yes, my understanding is that this Board has never had an opportunity to look at how you use SENDOUT specifically to model decrements from DSM.  So it hasn't had the opportunity, nor have intervenors' experts had the opportunity to look at how you've exercised your judgment in your model runs and your judgment with respect to -- and I'm going to list half a dozen items.  Why don't I list them all and you can tell me if, in general, I am correct?

Reduction in existing commitments to pipeline capacity, avoiding new commitments to pipeline capacity, release of pipeline capacity when contract quantities cannot be reduced, reduction in existing storage capacity commitments including injection withdrawal of storage capacity, avoidance of new storage commitments, and reductions in costs of utility-owned upstream resources, for example, Enbridge's GTA segment A through release or resale.

There has not been a -- I didn't miss the hearing when we got to review all that in detail, how you've modelled, used SENDOUT to model -- in modelling DSM, how you've dealt with each of these matters, have I?

MR. WELBURN:  Well, there have been a number of discussions with the Board in regards to the practical application of a number of these characteristics, if you will, or optionalities in managing our gas supply portfolio.

For the purposes of doing the modelling in SENDOUT, a number of these wouldn't necessarily be something that we could model, given the nature of the contracts that we sign and how they work.  But, for example --

MR. POCH:  Let me stop you there.

MR. WELBURN:  Sure.

MR. POCH:  That's what we haven't looked at.

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, in fairness, Mr. Welburn had not finished his answer, and Mr. Poch, I would ask, should remain from interrupting the witness.

MR. POCH:  Go ahead.

MR. WELBURN:  Thank you.  One example, I guess, the concept of putting in capacity releases into SENDOUT, I don't think that would have much of an impact on the landed costs for a number of reasons.  


One, that would be something very difficult to model in SENDOUT, because of the fact that when we are at point of time the base case and the DSM case would actually be impacted by that, we would be in very cold weather situations, high demand, and we would not be doing capacity releases because of the requirement we have to maintain reliability in our distribution system.

When you have periods in the summer, for example, where we do have capacity available for release, in those situations, if we were to release it into base case, it would also happen in the DSM case.  And so there wouldn't really be a net savings per se as a result of that.

MR. POCH:  I guess that's what I'm asking.  You've made a whole bunch of assumptions there about how much -- how significant the increment or decrement from DSM is, the timeline, whether -- as you've said, whether you're able, whether you're contractually able and so on.

There is a whole range of assumptions that go into that; correct?

MR. WELBURN:  There is a lot of -- well, I guess if you want to use the term assumptions --

MR. POCH:  Or judgments; let's put it that way.

MR. WELBURN:  There's a lot of things that need to be taken into consideration in regards to the nature of the contracts that we're signing.

MR. POCH:  My question is very high-level.

MR. WELBURN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  We weren't given the opportunity to look at how you exercised your judgment, or to examine those constraints, and so on, in this proceeding, nor has anybody in a prior proceeding when you do those runs.  That's -- you're saying we do all that in the model, and I'm just making a simple point that the Board should not presume that we've had the opportunity to vet that.

MR. WELBURN:  There have been opportunities to look at things like capacity releases, for example --

MR. POCH:  In this case?  Or --

MR. WELBURN:  -- not done within the model a lot of times in regards to how we've actually implemented the gas supply plan that comes out of the model.

MR. POCH:  But we've never been able to examine how you deal with it in the model?

MR. WELBURN:  I'm not aware of any situation, no.

MR. POCH:  Now, in the first part of this hearing with Union Gas, we learned that local transmission, I'll call it, on their system kind of fell through the cracks.  They used -- they had commodity upstream and they had -- they used your avoided costs for downstream for distribution avoidance, the kind of numbers that Navigant has provided you.

And we weren't -- given the limitations on the information we were to look at and see, we weren't able to satisfy ourselves as to how you've dealt with it.

So let me discuss that with you, and let's first turn to --

MS. LONG:  What do you mean by that, Mr. Poch?  Maybe you can clarify by what you mean fell through the cracks.

I expect that Mr. Smith might have something to say about that, so can you be more specific in what you mean for the witness?

MR. POCH:  Yes, just that we learned -- and I don't have the references for the cross-examination, but we learned -- and you don't have to take this as the case.  This is just why our curiosity was piqued, that Union -- I'm not talking about Enbridge here -- Union had a category of avoidable costs for, I think it was Dawn to Parkway type of costs, or Tecumseh, that were neither in their upstream and they're in your downstream.  They may be in your upstream, I understand, but leaving that for a second –

So because there was that concern arose with Union, I wanted just to go over the analogous situation with you.  You don't need to comment on what happened with Union or confirm -- I appreciate that would be outside of your knowledge.

But if that helps, let's go to Exhibit J2.16 which is in our materials, and I'll just find the page for you.

It's at page 23 of our materials and in the second paragraph there, it says -- the response says:
"It was out of the scope of the study for Navigant to review all aspects of avoided cost methodology.  Based on the workshop discussions with Enbridge staff and given the fact that Enbridge's avoided gas costs have been subject to scrutiny over the past number of years, Navigant determined -- Navigant determined -- that Enbridge had accurately captured all upstream costs, including transmission."


That alone, I see, now concerns me, given Member Duff's question earlier today to them about who did that determination, but we'll come back to that.

Does that -- you agree that confirms Navigant didn't review your upstream costs?

MR. WELBURN:  They didn't review our upstream costs in any detail, no.

MR. POCH:  All right, but somehow they determined that you accurately captured all your upstream costs.

MR. WINSTONE:  May I speak?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. WINSTONE:  Just as part of this process, which I was not involved in the decision-making on this, but one of my superior -- Mr. Todd Williams was involved in --


MR. POCH:  We all know Mr. Williams, yes.

MR. WINSTONE:  So he -- I can't say -- I don't believe -- he was involved in the decision that we came to where we decided that the focus of our study would just be the distribution component.

MR. POCH:  All right, you basically just -- you basically were satisfied by Enbridge that they've dealt with that elsewhere; you don't need to deal with it.

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, I think, just to try and help provide a little context:  Leading up to these workshops or perhaps during the workshops -- I wasn't there myself, but there were some discussions in how our distribution system operates and how our upstream is managed, and through those discussions it becomes quite apparent quite easily that all the upstream costs are captured in our SENDOUT runs, and for example, just to try and elaborate on that a little bit --


MR. POCH:  Oh, well, let me interrupt you.  I don't think you need to to answer my question, if that -- feel free, but just -- if you're thinking you're answering my question, I was just trying to make it clear who did what.

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I am reluctant to intervene, but my friend knows that a witness is entitled to complete their answer, and this response was, I thought, directly relevant to the questions he's been asking.

MR. POCH:  That's fine.  By all means proceed.  I'm just trying to --


MS. LONG:  I think what Mr. Poch is saying is that he's satisfied with the answer, but Mr. Welburn, if you want to provide further context, of course, please feel free to do so.

MR. WELBURN:  Thank you.  In order to really understand the whole difference between upstream and downstream you need to understand how our system works.  We don't have a natural gas supply that we can procure inside our distribution system.  We have to procure that natural gas outside of the distribution system, and then we have to contract for transportation in order to bring that supply into our franchise, and then we also contract for storage facilities, storage capacity, in order to manage the seasonality of our demands.

All of those transportation arrangements, all of the contract -- sorry, all of the storage arrangements that we have and all of the supply that we procure in order to meet our demand within the franchise is incorporated in our SENDOUT runs, so there really is no other costs that are deemed upstream, I think is the term we're throwing around a lot that sometimes is a little bit mysterious to people, but all those upstream costs are incorporated as inputs that we put into SENDOUT, which then does its cost analysis and optimization and develops a gas supply plan, which is another way of saying how we're going to utilize those assets throughout the year.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, that's helpful.  If you -- this interrogatory then refers us to JT1.15 for the components of what is in the SENDOUT model.  I just want to make sure -- and if you look overleaf on page 24 there, there you have it, JT1.15, and it's as you say, sir, a bunch of TCPL costs and Union costs and Vector and Alliance, both demand charges and commodity charges; correct?

MR. WELBURN:  I believe that's one table from the response.

MR. MILLAR:  Microphone.

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, yes, that's one table from the response.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Can you confirm, though, that, for example, GTA segment A is not in there, because it's not captured by SENDOUT; it is part of your system?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, at the time that we did this SENDOUT run was down around 2012, and the GTA project wasn't really a consideration in this.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So that's fine.  I just want that confirmation.

MR. WELBURN:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  Now, isn't it an avoidable cost if you can lay off some of that GTA segment A capacity, for example, at some point?  So, for example, we heard that there's been a 60-40 allocation of costs on that portion of the GTA project.

If you can somehow free up with DSM the need for some of that and sell it off to TCPL to resell to other utilities, that's -- to the extent that could happen, that's an avoidable cost?  I'm not...

MR. WELBURN:  Well, I guess the first thing I would point out is the GTA project wasn't a consideration when we did this SENDOUT run.  There was no view into the future as to that even being a possibility at that.


But to the extent that we have to do an analysis going forward, the segment A of the GTA project that you are referring to for transmission purposes is not something that we would be utilizing for ourselves.

The expectation at this point in time is that that transmission capacity that is there for segment A would be provided to market participants that were interested in contracting for that transmission capacity.  We would not be utilizing that for the purposes of moving gas, I suppose you can say, within a distribution system.

That would be the other portion of that segment A, and that's where it gets a little confusing.

MR. POCH:  Multiple portion of segment A.  All right.  And the 40-60 division is a part of segment A; you are saying it is not all of segment A.

MR. WELBURN:  What I am referring to there is segment A is a single pipeline that is going to be used for two purposes, one for transmission and one for distribution.  The distribution component will certainly be utilized by ourselves; the transmission component of that will be contracted out to third parties.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. WELBURN:  And not utilized by Enbridge.

MR. POCH:  Okay, I think we were just having a semantics issue here.  The part of segment A that you're going to use for your distribution is -- you're calling it not transmission; you're calling it distribution, is I think is what you've just said, and that's the -- I don't know if it's the 60 or the 40, but it is one of those.

MR. WELBURN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right, and am I correct that the possibility of reallocating part of segment A is not in the downstream costs that Navigant has tried to quantify because it wasn't in your tally of reinforcement projects and, in keeping with the scope of their study, it wasn't their job to decide what's upstream and what's downstream?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct, it wasn't their role to identify what reinforcement projects were in versus out.

MR. POCH:  Right.

MS. THOMPSON:  But I will mention that -- I myself am not a GTA project witness, but I do know that the -- this similar subject matter was discussed during the GTA project evidence, and the part that was attributable to load growth was specifically called out, and that's the portion of segment B, the most southern portion of segment B, that goes from Sheppard Avenue East up to McNicoll.  It is approximately 3.3 kilometres, and we provided the estimate as well.  It is about 40- to $50 million.  That part has been included.  All the other components were deemed to be not attributable to load growth.

MR. POCH:  Let me just ask, so let's be clear then.  There's -- none of segment A was in your -- is in your distribution avoided costs.

MS. THOMPSON:  That's correct, but that is because it is not directly linked to load growth.

MR. POCH:  I understand what you're saying.  If load in Toronto was 7 or 10 percent lower, so that there wasn't this deadline to deal with the pressure problem in segment D -- I'm sorry, let's put it the other way.  If load in Toronto was 10 percent higher than what you've experienced on peak days, would you have had to accelerate the GTA project, much of the GTA project?

MS. THOMPSON:  We'd have to do specific analysis to confirm timing of it.  However, generally speaking, when there's an increase in load growth, that does reduce the available capacity, in principle.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MS. THOMPSON:  But I'm unable to confirm the specifics without doing specific runs.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay, thank you.  Now, moving on, in layman's terms -- Mr. Winstone, some of these questions will be for you, but I won't ask you for your opinion.

In layman's terms, was the objective of Navigant's work to come up with a ratio on the amount of infrastructure investment required per cubic metre of load growth, or put another way, the amount of investment in infrastructure that is avoidable by a cubic metre of avoided load growth?  That's the high-level description of what you were doing?

MR. WINSTONE:  The goal was to come up with a reasonable value that could be used for each of the load shapes.

MR. POCH:  Right, and it's a ratio?  What you're doing is that ratio?

MR. WINSTONE:  Ultimately, we apply the ratio on the load shapes to the value that we calculate; correct.

MR. POCH:  And you're just telling me that you actually have to do it by a couple of different load shapes, because they obviously have a different impact on the system.

MR. WINSTONE:  Yes, we were supplied the load shapes from Enbridge for each of the four and then, based on those ratios, we apply that to the calculated --


MR. POCH:  So part of what you did was you looked at -- you were given historical spending that Enbridge told you was intended to serve growth, and that would be in your numerator, and then you were given total retail load growth and that served as the denominator.

MR. WINSTONE:  It wasn't just historical.  It was four years of historical plus six years of forecast.

MR. POCH:  But I have what's a numerator and what's a denominator correct other than --


MR. WINSTONE:  You are correct.

MR. POCH:  So for the numerator, someone -- I gather it was Enbridge -- had to go through lists of projects and decide if, for example, it, they were reinforcements to serve load growth as opposed to service extensions to a new community, which wouldn't be considered to be serving load growth; correct?

MR. WINSTONE:  That is my understanding, but I'll let Enbridge answer that question.

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  And in the denominator, you included all of the retail load growth.  Am I correct?

MR. WINSTONE:  Again, I'm going to let Enbridge respond to that.

MS. THOMPSON:  Sorry, can you please clarify what you mean by retail load growth?

MR. POCH:  Your total, your system load growth, gas sales for the period you were looking at.  You said --


[Witness panel confers]

MR. WINSTONE:  Sorry, would you be able to repeat the question again?

MR. POCH:  I'm just trying to get clear on the record what was the numerator and denominator in that ratio, and you went through -- in the denominator, it would have been simpler.  It would have just been the load growth experienced or projected for that four plus two -- whatever the period you were looking at was.

That was the load growth -- that was your basically your gas volumes normalized for peak day, I assume.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Perhaps you could just clarify what calculation or what spot, just so we can make sure we're all looking at the same thing and understanding you correctly, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  I'm not looking at any particular thing.  I thought I just clarified with Mr. Winstone that what he was doing is taking two sets of data from you, and deriving a ratio and then turning that into a table of values by year.

MR. WINSTONE:  And that holds true.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So now I'm turning to you, and saying there are these two sets of data that you gave to him.  One was, I think we've already agreed, was this -- you went through and allocated projects, some you called reinforcements and said they could defer load.  Others you called other categories, one of which might be service extensions to new communities, and you're saying that's not to serve load growth.

So that was the investment value in the period in question that you -- that's how you came up with the investment value that serves as load growth.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  So that was in the -- in the numerator.

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And then in the denominator, it is a little simpler.  It was just, what was the load -- the difference in load in the system in the relevant period, the growth in load that you've -- because we're trying to see what this ratio is.  Is that right?

MR. WELBURN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  So you've included all the load in the denominator, but only some of your investment in pipes in the numerator, for the reasons we've spoken of.

I think that's a rhetorical question.  I'm just summarizing.

MS. LONG:  Is that not correct?

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, I guess what I can speak to -- I'm just a little -- I'm trying to keep up with what you're referring to, because you're talking about some calculations that I can't refer back to.

What I can tell you is that when we did the calculation for the avoided costs upstream, what we did was we did include all of the upstream costs for the base case and took the difference with the upstream costs for the various load shapes, and did what you were talking about on a denominator, which is the difference in the load.

MR. POCH:  Right, and I was actually focusing on the downstream at this point.  But I think you confirmed my question about the denominator, in any event.

All right, let's go to some of the points you've raised in -- I'll refer to it is a your rebuttal.  That's not intended to be a derogatory word.

It's Exhibit K7.3, your evidence-in-chief today.  Now, first of all, in the first section, Ms. Thompson, under the heading "Area 10" in appendix B, you acknowledged that Mr. Chernick was correct in pointing errors in your compilation of load-meeting projects, and you've indicated you plan to correct them in the next round of avoided costs; is that correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  We do plan to correct them.  But I will say that given that there's now been a couple -- at least a couple of years that have gone by since the time the project list was originally developed, we do want to -- we feel that it is fair and appropriate to go through and do a complete re-evaluation, to make sure that the project list is the most up to date.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So even with the limited data that you were willing to provide us, Mr. Chernick found missing projects or inconsistencies between the various lists of infrastructure projects that he did receive, and that you then -- these lists that you allocate to load growth or not load growth --


MS. THOMPSON:  Mr. Poch, if I may --


MR. POCH:  Let me finish my question, if I may.  Why do we -- why should we assume that in all the parts of the analyzes that we didn't get to see, you would be any less error-prone?

MR. THOMPSON:  Before I answer your question, I just wanted to clarify that I wouldn't characterize it as not providing information.  We did provide with you a full and complete project list for both the historical and future projects.

The error that you're speaking about was one that -- if you look at the list of projects that we did provide to you, it is clear that area 10 was not included in that list, and that was an omission that happened at the time of developing that set of tables.

So in transferring that information over, we missed those projects because it wasn't in that document that we had referenced.

Now, to answer your specific question, where we recognize the error, we own the error and we are going through a process now to make sure that all of our projects are consolidated in one place and we are going to be double and triple checking before we send those projects over to Navigant to do the update.

MR. POCH:  My question wasn't really just about the compilation of that particular list, but in all the analyzes and judgments and data that you use in your avoided cost analysis.

In the part that we saw, we found errors.  Why should we assume that in the parts we don't get to see, there are no errors?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Just for some context -- and perhaps Ms. Thompson can elaborate, but, you know, we undertook this avoided distribution cost study as an input, time-intensive -- sensitive, rather, input to our potential study under the guidance and insights of the stakeholders which we engaged in the process of doing our potential study, and so we were, perhaps, more time-pressed than in other instances, and so I just call that out for context, because it was a time-sensitive input to better inform our potential study.

MR. POCH:  Did you want to answer my earlier question, Ms. Thompson, before you move on?

MS. THOMPSON:  Further to that, like I said, it was an omission.  Human error happens, I think, and we take full responsibility for that.  We are going through a process to consolidate all of our projects into one central location, and I think I'm confident saying that we, in reviewing the project list, we went through diligent process and reviewed each one line by line.

MR. POCH:  So what we've just been talking about, there were some errors, and Ms. Oliver-Glasford was forthright enough to say there was a compressed time frame; it wasn't the ideal process.

Maybe I can jump to the bottom line, because in the end the bottom line of Mr. Chernick's evidence is he thinks the number is much higher, but what he's telling the Board is this process should get fixed going forward.  He makes a recommendation.


And I'd like to just ask you:  Would you agree it would be helpful -- well, first of all, would you agree that this is pretty arcane stuff; there is a lot of detail? Fleshing this out in a hearing room is not the ideal way to get any agreement and comfort on behalf of various parties and provide it to the Board?


Would you agree that a better process would maybe allow you to sit down with perhaps a couple of experts that intervenors are happy with and Board Staff and go through this and let them have access to your models, have transparency, let it take -- take the time it needs, let it be iterative, and that that would just be a much more productive way to deal with this kind of an issue?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Enbridge is seeking approval of the current methodology for purposes of this DSM plan as it has been used and trusted and relied upon and improved upon since the '90s.

I think that Mr. Welburn touched on an important part, is that there are other places where supply planning is reviewed, and I understand from not too distant letter that there is, you know, discussion around a supply planning review.  So, you know, there are many places where these things can happen.  And at this time I believe that the methodology we're currently using is appropriate.

MR. POCH:  All right, let me just ask you then a specific -- Ms. Thompson, in that discussion about area 10 in appendix B, you go on to say Mr. Chernick was right, that this omission was about 27 percent of the -- would result -- fixing it results in about a 27 percent increase in the distribution costs that you passed along to Navigant, or it would have if you'd done it by then.  Obviously you're just -- you're going to correct it in the future.  You didn't correct it for the purpose of this -- the avoided costs that we're using in this hearing.


But you say that would have a -- ultimately an impact on the avoided cost adder of less than 1 percent for water heating and industrial load type profiles and less than 2 percent for the space heating load profiles.

Just a very simple clarification:  Was that, you know, 1 percent of the 1.3 or would it be 1.3 going to 2.3?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. MILLS:  That would have an impact to increase the 1.3, but I'd like to --


MR. POCH:  Let me just stop you.  1.3, so it would go -- if it was 1 percent, for example, it would go -- in that case it would be 1.3 --


MS. MILLS:  Yeah, I --


MR. POCH:  -- to 2.3, and the 4.3 would go 4.3 to 6.3 -- is that --


MS. MILLS:  No.

MR. POCH:  No?


MS. MILLS:  No, it wasn't -- it wasn't that much of an increase.

MR. POCH:  I know you say it was less than 2 percent.  I was just --


MS. MILLS:  Yes, it was.  And that less than 2 percent, that would have been happening on the peak year load profiles.  The base case -- or the water heating and industrial profiles that are not as peaky, they had a little bit of a less impact, but overall, you know, we're talking a very small impact --


MR. POCH:  I --


MS. MILLS:  -- to the overall avoided costs over the 30-year period.

MR. POCH:  I was just clarifying.  It's like when they quote what happens to the stock exchange.  They talk about points.  I never know if they mean the percentage number changes or one hundredth that changes, so I think what you've just clarified is when you say less than 2 percent, so would you add less than 2 to the 4.3, and you would get something less than 6.3.  That's the simple math.

MS. MILLS:  Yes, definitely --


MR. POCH:  Okay.

MS. MILLS:  -- but I would have --


MR. POCH:  All right.

MS. MILLS:  to take it subject to check.

MR. POCH:  That's helpful.

MS. MILLS:  Less than 6.3, yes.

MR. POCH:  I know that you've used the word less than.  I'm not trying to avoid your modifier.

MS. MILLS:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  You'd agree that a small change in the adder gets magnified for purposes of figuring out what the rate impact is on participants because you multiply that adder by the rest of your avoided costs, your TRC benefits we spoke of, $230 million in 2018, for example; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Mr. Poch, I will continue with what I said earlier about, there is no certainty around those non-participant benefits, and we can't confirm those, they -- you know, so --


MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  With that caveat you would agree, though, that to the extent you have any comfort in your less than 6.3, to figure out what the impact would be on ratepayers, you'd take that number and you'd multiply it by 230, and in 2018 we'd get -- the product of that would be the -- the rate-reducing effect?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think when you're talking about the rate-reducing effect, I think it is just mischaracterized.  Rate impacts are definite.  They're certain.

We're talking about a screening methodology that looks at, you know, your avoided costs in theoretical terms, and we certainly hope those are very solid, but those take place over a number of years that the measure or the project's in place for, and when you're talking about rate or bill impacts, those are apples and oranges.

MR. POCH:  Well, we've already had that discussion at length in this proceeding about how rate-reducing effects of this year's DSM will extend out into the future or many years, but right now ratepayers are experiencing the rate-reducing effects to the extent there are any from all the past years of DSM for the measures that persist; do you recall that in the record?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I don't disagree with that.

MR. POCH:  Right, okay, and so that would be the simple math.  If we wanted to understand the impact of -- that would be caused by this year's program, it would be that -- that would be the -- the simple version of the math is you'd take that adder and multiply it by the gross benefits and you'd get a sense of what the budget -- how it would compare to the budget.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think all things being equal, perhaps, but again --


MR. POCH:  All right.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  -- there are a lot of complexities.

MR. POCH:  Okay, I think it was Mr. Lister on Tuesday, it may have been Mr. Ott, who said -- when we had a little bit of this discussion he said -- and I asked why it didn't include offsetting impacts, and one of his responses was about this concern about certainty, but the other one was that it's just never been done that way, within his knowledge.

We actually went back and took a peek, and if you look at the last page of our -- of K7.4, our materials, we were able to pull up an interrogatory from -- this is ten years ago in EB-2005-0001, one of your rate cases -- where you did -- it was a DSM case, actually, I'm told -- actually, we asked if you could do that, and you did it.  For 2006, 2007, 2008 DSM plans you came up with what the expected rate impact would be, and over the life of the measure you see there that the numbers are negative.  You actually were forecasting that your program would reduce rates.

Do you see that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I can see the material before me, but I certainly don't have any of the broader context that I'm sure would be necessary.

I also know that, as we've discussed, you know, we've got a 16-year measure life and that obviously is net present value to understand how we're screening these measures.  But in actuality, we only see those streams happen each year.  So again, a little bit of an apples and oranges.


So I'm not sure if, when they did that, maybe that caveat wasn't called out, or maybe there is some other context that I don't have.

MR. POCH:  Sure, there is a distinction between just the first year effects of DSM as opposed to the effects over time, and that's the difference between the first year column and the over the life of the measure columns.

We've spoken about that.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  In any given year, your ratepayers are experiencing various effects from the various years of DSM.  I think we just agreed on that a few moments ago.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct, yes, we did.

MR. POCH:  So we're looking at this particular year over all the years it will affect rates, the net present value effect is that it's going to reduce rates.

And presumably, there are a bunch of other overlapping years that are overlapping with the first year effect of this.  Is that fair?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In theory, it certainly should. But again, we don't have all the other things that may impact people's bills, such as changes in occupancy, weather changes, all these other components which are very important in understanding how these two elements --


MR. POCH:  I'm not sure how any of those factors -- aren't those all independent factors effecting rates?  If we are just looking at what's the impact from DSM, I'm not sure I get the connection you're making.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  When you are trying to establish what a project has saved or a measure has saved, you know, these are always things that can change based on what's happening in a home, or in a business.

MR. POCH:  All you're saying --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We can't assume that that stream holds.

MR. POCH:  All you're saying is that your avoided costs are all forecasts.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct, and I'm calling out the certainty and sometimes the changing nature and complexity of these.


MR. POCH:  You make decisions on your programs based on a forecast of avoided costs, a forecast of any number of things, and so your rate impact analysis has got to similarly be based on a forecast.  That's what you're saying, and there is uncertainty in all of that.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I don't disagree.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, if you just look at the bottom of that page, it just mentions that there is a reference that -- the comment is that they didn't include the effect on -- we'd asked at that point.  We were interested in DRIPE way back then, and we'd asked for that, and you just -- the response at the time was, well, we think it's immaterial.


So I'm not asking you to comment on the veracity of that statement.  Just the implication, though, there is then that the numbers they did provide us were not for things like DRIPE; they were for things like distribution infrastructure avoidance -- the harder numbers, if you will, from your perspective, right?

MS. LONG:  Are you asking the witness in the context of this exhibit that you've put before her, 2005?  Are you asking her to make that determination?

MR. POCH:  Yes, that because this document speaks of excluding those other costs, then the ones that are included would logically be the infrastructure avoidance costs.

MR. O'LEARY:  I just had one clarification question.  I think my friend said do these costs relate to distribution infrastructure, and I think what he means to refer to is the totality of the avoided costs.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. POCH:  I'm not even --


MR. O'LEARY:  Which includes commodity electricity, water, transportation, storage.

MR. POCH:  No, I think quite clearly we understand that it's the position of the company is that commodity doesn't affect rates, and this was about rates.  So I'm asking the panel --


MR. O'LEARY:  What I'm asking is -- I don't know the context of what this question asked.  Does it relate to the totality of avoided costs, or, as you were putting, does it relate only to distribution infrastructure.

It's not clear that it only relates to what you have suggested.

MR. POCH:  Panel, what, in your view, affects rates in your avoided costs?  Isn't it the deferral of infrastructure?  That's the only thing that we've spoken of that you've acknowledged might affect rates.  You've indicated you have some great reservations about that, but that's the only thing we've identified, right?

MS. LONG:  Mr. Poch, can you ask this question a different way?  I don't know that the Board can put much weight on an answer related to an interrogatory response from 2005 that the witness had -- did not prepare herself, and does not know the context in which the question was answered.

So if you want to put something to her, I would suggest that you do it a different way.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I'm not going to even go there.  I think that we're going to spin around and waste time, so I'll move on.

MS. LONG:  Move on.

MR. POCH:  Let's just contrast the numbers that appear on that interrogatory and what we have today.  And that interrogatory, we're told that whatever -- wherever these rate impacts come from in that analysis, they were enough, that over the life of the measures.  They offset the rate impact of the budget.  That's how you get negative numbers, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Again, I don't have the full context here and I'm not reading it saying that.

I see a negative, I just don't know exactly what it's related to.  Perhaps that's the case, Mr. Poch.  I'm sorry, I'm not trying to be difficult.  I just don't know.

MR. POCH:  I'll let the document speak for itself and let me just ask about today.  In the analysis that you've provided to the Board, the net present value of avoided infrastructure that you and Navigant have jointly constructed wouldn't come close offsetting the entire DSM budget rate impact, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's fair, yes.

MR. POCH:  Do you understand why intervenors in our position might be a little -- seeing this and seeing that, we might be a little bit nervous about whether you've done it right now, and we want to take a look behind the curtain?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  My colleague beside me, Ms. Mills, she can speak for herself, if she wishes.  But she's been in DSM for a long time at Enbridge, and we undertook a similar review of a distribution avoided cost and at that time, and the result was similar.

MS. MILLS:  Yes, that is fair to say.  The last time and -- I will qualify it that I haven't been around DSM that long that I would have done this analysis in '96 and '97.

However, during that time period, we found the values that we're coming up with today were in line with what was found by our counterparts in the past.  So we felt that they were a reasonable representation of what the avoided distribution cost adder would be in today's --


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I'm going to try to quickly get through a few of the other points you make in your evidence-in-chief today. I think we can deal with it at a pretty high level.

With respect to 2010 to 2012 revisions, as you speak of there, you say the main point that I'd like to raise here is that all infrastructure projects are not necessarily an avoided cost in relation to DSM.

Can I sort of paraphrase what you're saying there, saying it's -- you have to review the specifics of the projects to categorize them, correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  So there's judgments and data that goes that analysis?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And the GTA project comments, first of all, that's a very large project.  It would be a very large component to the extent it's included in your analysis?

MS. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, what analysis are you referring to?

MR. POCH:  Your avoided costs analysis, your distribution avoided costs.

MS. THOMPSON:  So with that particular project we made reference back to the conversations that happened during the GTA project proceeding.  They were similar in nature, and it specifically called out the load growth component, so we took that infrastructure along with the cost that was quoted in the GTA project evidence and inserted that into the total reinforcement cost that was provided to Navigant.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So there was again -- there was an analysis judgment made about what portion to put in, what portion to keep out.  You didn't put any of segment A in.  You put, I think, 40 of 300-odd of segment B in; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, Mr. Poch, can you please repeat the question?

MR. POCH:  I might be wrong on this, but I understood that -- you exercised some judgment and you've said -- you -- there was part of segment A, I think it was 40 million of the -- of that that went into this, and none of segment A -- segment A; right?

MS. THOMPSON:  None of segment A, but that again does go back to the conversations that took place during the course of the GTA project proceeding, so to be helpful, we could provide some references.

MR. POCH:  That's fine, I understand.  I was in that hearing.  I'd like to forget it.

MS. THOMPSON:  And let me just -- I'll just say one more thing:  With the different categories, so reinforcements, replacements, relocations, and sales, those are pretty distinct categories, and even to the extent that there are different parties that often work on those different types of projects, depending on where they fit within the organization, so for us and what we do within the distribution planning group, we're able to make the pretty clear distinction as to what is load-growth-related, versus what's not load-growth-related, because it is the nature of what we do with infrastructure planning and forecast development.

MR. POCH:  Let's skip ahead then to your topic and your -- relocations, replacements, and sales, and there in the bottom of your -- of page 6 you say -- page 3, I'm sorry, you say:
"It was determined that reinforcement means were the primary category of avoided distribution system costs affected by load reduction, and therefore the company generally limited the inputs to this expenditure type."

Right?  That's -- so it was the reinforcements that you gave to Navigant.

MS. THOMPSON:  It was reinforcements, but in addition, to the extent that any of the other project types had a load growth component to it, we also included that in the forecast that was provided to Navigant as well, so for --

MR. POCH:  So you -- sorry, go ahead.

MS. THOMPSON:  For example, if there is a relocation that is taking place and we foresee growth within that particular area and we feel that we would, in several years, be back to increase the size of that pipe, we would combine the projects together for efficiency.  And we included the -- that growth-only component.

MR. POCH:  Right, and you say later in your piece on page 4, you -- I should mention that to the extent you know about it, you've put something into this forecast you provided to Navigant.

So again, you were exercising judgment, you were making forecasts and so on, correct?  About these other categories that might otherwise be categorized as relocations, replacements, or sales, as opposed to reinforcement, you are saying, but some of that in fact is appropriately considered as avoidable, or in the avoided cost analysis.

MS. THOMPSON:  The portion that's related to load growth associated --

MR. POCH:  Right.

MS. THOMPSON:  -- with those projects, and it is -- it is clear when there is a load component to it, because we have to do specific analysis, we have to take the inputs that are best available at the time to forecast that particular load, and then run an analysis to determine the appropriate mean.

MR. POCH:  All right.  All right.  I think I could take you to others, but my question's going to be the same in each case.  There's judgment.  We didn't get to peek behind the curtain, so I'm just going to leave that and move on in the interests of time.

Mr. Welburn, you in your chief today spoke about the price suppression issue, DRIPE; correct?

MR. WELBURN:  That was part of it, yes.

MR. POCH:  And you say if you are going to look at DRIPE you should consider how lower demand from demand -- DSM influencing demand will influence natural gas production, and then you need to look, in turn, how the natural gas production change might affect gas prices; have I got that right?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, what I was trying to get at there is that what we've been talking about so far is a select few market fundamentals, I guess you can call them, that could impact commodity prices.  All I'm suggesting as part of this, is that there's a lot of other market fundamentals, if you will, that also influence prices.  Some may go in the same direction, others will go in the other direction, so if --

MR. POCH:  Sure.  But if --

MR. WELBURN:  -- we are going to look at it, it needs to be done on a more of a holistic approach and not just on a few select...

MR. POCH:  The example you gave, though, you are saying there is this third order effect.  The second order effect is that it could influence gas production, and the third order effect is that could, in turn, influence gas prices, right?  You are saying if you're going to look at this you should look at that third order effect too.

MR. WELBURN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, Mr. Chernick based his analysis on runs of the U.S. Energy Information Administration; are you aware of that?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, I am.

MR. POCH:  And they're sophisticated analysts; correct?

MR. WELBURN:  I would have to assume that, yes.

MR. POCH:  Yeah, and they would have had various elasticities and supply side and demand side assumptions and components in their model?

MR. WELBURN:  I don't know for certain what went into that analysis, but it was referencing one particular fundamental, which is the DRIPE effect in price suppression.

All I'm suggesting is that there will be other market impacts that have to be taken into account, and there is also the question of how relevant that particular analysis is compared to the markets that we operate in.  And I know that's been discussed a fair bit throughout the proceeding --

MR. POCH:  We'll come back to that.  But you've no reason to think the Energy Information Administration wouldn't have taken account of elasticities of supply and demand throughout North America; that's exactly what they're modelling, isn't it?

MR. WELBURN:  Once again, I haven't had an opportunity to go in and really totally understand --

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. WELBURN:  -- exactly what they did in their analysis.

MR. POCH:  Do you recall that Mr. Chernick explicitly in his evidence discusses how there was no evidence of a decay in the correlation?  Do you recall that?

MR. WELBURN:  I'd have to go back and look specifically --

MR. POCH:  Take it as a given.  He -- take it as subject to check.  He talks about there was no evidence of decay.  Isn't decay exactly what you're talking about, that there would be this bounce-back effect?  And he specifically looked at that and didn't find any.  You're not familiar with that part of his analysis?

MR. WELBURN:  When I was looking at that part of his analysis, I was assuming that the decay he was talking about was related to the particular data that was in his graph that he had provided, albeit not his own data, a collection of data from another source; but still, in order for me to comment on what other market fundamentals went into that study, I wouldn't be able to do that.

MR. POCH:  A moment ago you did say there was concerns about the local situation:  We have storage, we have balancing, for example.  I think you cited that.

Could you just talk -- what's your understanding of the difference between commodity DRIPE and basis DRIPE?

MR. WELBURN:  From what I -- well, for the commodity DRIPE, what I'm understanding from the evidence provided here is that if you have a drop in demand, that could lead to a subsequent reduction in commodity prices.  And that's, in essence, the concept behind the DRIPE.

What DRIPE doesn't talk about, though, is --

MR. POCH:  Well, let me just ask you to answer my question first, which is, what do you understand basis DRIPE is?  If it's outside of your expertise or knowledge  -- excuse me -- you haven't been qualified as an expert witness, that's fine.  You can just say so.

MR. WELBURN:  Basis DRIPE isn't something I've dealt with extensively.  But what I can say, though, is that a lot of the contracts that we deal with aren't necessarily basis-driven, as far as how we get the gas into our franchise.  We contract for transportation, and in order to bring those supplies into our market, which have transportation tolls associated with them -- and I think there have been a couple of interrogatories, although I don't have them here with me specifically, that talked a little bit about that, and the impact that a reduction in demand can have on transportation tolls, which could increase the transportation tolls, and subsequently that could lead to an increase in the basis between two points.

Once again, it is a very complicated thing, and to try and boil it down to one or two concepts, I think, is misrepresenting how the market works.

And that was the concern that we had if we were going to look at this just in that one context.

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I wonder if now would be an opportunity to allow the witness to finish his answer with respect to the commodity DRIPE, as Mr. Poch once again interrupted his answer.

Is there something else, Mr. Welburn that you wished to say?

MR. WELBURN:  I think that got most of it.  Like I said, the whole impetus of what I was trying to get at in the evidence-in-chief is whether or not there is an impact related to DRIPE, I guess we would have to analyze a little bit more specifically and take into market conditions that we work in.

But if we are going to do something like that, we just feel it should be done in a little bit more of a holistic approach.

MR. POCH:  Well, are you aware that Mr. Chernick, while he gave an example of basis DRIPE, he made no recommendation that the Board should include anything at this time for basis DRIPE, precisely for the reasons you've said, that it is jurisdiction-specific?

MR. WELBURN:  And that may be fair.  I guess what I was relating to is that throughout the proceeding, there's been a lot of questions in regards to the specific impacts of DRIPE, and the calculations that were done for it, and the relevance of it.

And there is also a suggestion that we may need to look at this in a little bit more detail.

So what I'm suggesting is that if we are going to look at in a little bit more detail, we need to also consider the scope of what we are looking at, so we are doing this in an appropriate manner.

MR. POCH:  So even though we know directionally where this might go, and even though we have some numbers, you are saying that may be the best evidence, but it's not anything you want to use in any way in the interim, until we have sort of more perfect information?

MR. WELBURN:  I'm not certain that is something we can use at this time.

To suggest that we would incorporate a directional impact of another market factor into our analysis would then suggest that we would also have to make a decision on what that impact would be.

When we do our analysis in SENDOUT, to the best extent possible, the -- well, to my knowledge, all the inputs that we put into SENDOUT, we don't bias them in any way.  They are based off of market conditions -- sorry, they are based off of our contracts that we have contracted for.  They are also based off of the commodity price forecast that we get from independent third parties.

And so we have haven't incorporated that concept into there.

It is something that potentially down the road we could do, provided that it's looked at appropriately and we come up with an appropriate methodology for doing that.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, that concept being DRIPE?

MR. WELBURN:  Correct.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  You go on to say it is also important to consider the magnitude of Enbridge's DSM project, which makes up less than one percent of the company's annual demand.  And you say it's just not clear this is a big enough effect.

Isn't that exactly what Mr. Chernick did in his analysis?  He found a small effect on continental prices for each cubic metre of DSM, and he multiplied it by the actual amount of cubic metres that your group is forecasting, and then he multiplied it by the actual amount of gas that Enbridge customers buy.

He acknowledges it is a small effect from each cubic metre, but it turns out it affects every cubic metre we buy.  So it turns out to be a big number.

MR. WELBURN:  I wouldn't necessarily agree with that.  The analysis looks at a lot of markets -- considers a lot of markets that are substantially different than the markets that we operate in.

We've talked about a couple of the factors already that are referenced in here, which is the storage factor, which is very significant influence on natural gas prices.

MR. POCH:  How?

MR. WELBURN:  And also there is a number of unique considerations, such as the multi-point balancing, which we've also talked about and which will influence the demand that's required at certain times of the year.

So it's really difficult to take the concept, in general, and apply it now.  I'm not in disagreements with what was being said earlier in that perhaps this could be looked at in a little bit more detail.

But to suggest that we start to include that DRIPE effect into your analysis now is something that I don't think I would be comfortable with at this point.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I don't know when you wanted to break.  I could break now or later; it doesn't matter.

MS. LONG:  That's fine, if this is a convenient time, we'll break now.  We're going to break for one hour.

Over the lunch break and prior to counsel leaving, I would like Mr. Quinn, Mr. Brett, and Dr. Higgin to speak to Mr. Millar about what you expect your time estimates to be.

And, Mr. O'Leary, I would like you to speak to Mr. Millar about the nature of your conflict at the end of the day, whether it affects all your witnesses or just your experts.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:43 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:46 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. O'Leary, are there any preliminary issues?

MR. O'LEARY:  I'm pleased to say there are not.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then Mr. Poch, please continue.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Winstone, I had a question for you.  Your evidence today is basically responding to Mr. Chernick's concerns about real versus nominal carrying charges, and you say didn't use a carrying charge, right?

MR. WINSTONE:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I just want to ask you then how you calculated the avoided cost numbers you did.

Let's take an example.  Ignore my numbers that are pulled out of the air.  Say you found that a cubic metre of DSM defers $1,000 -- could defer $1,000 of infrastructure, and then you -- your task was to -- that was given to you by Enbridge, and then your task was to turn that into an annual avoided cost, a series of annual avoided costs?

MR. WINSTONE:  Yes, and we calculated it both annually and then on a levellized basis as well.

MR. POCH:  So in my example, let's pretend that the number you came up with was $60 was the annual avoided cost in a given year.  Obviously it would change through time, but let's just say in a particular year -- would that be the amount -- or the --


MR. WINSTONE:  Hang on, just to clarify, when you say $60, $60 with what units?  Is that just $60 per annual volume?

MR. POCH:  For a cubic metre of gas saved in year 1, the avoided cost -- that lasts, you know, 20 years, the avoided cost in year 1 is a certain amount, year 2 is a certain amount.  I'm saying let's say -- assume it was $60 in, you know, in year 5.  It doesn't really matter.  You came up with a table that had to come up with annual --


MR. WINSTONE:  Yes, it was a dollar amount per annual volume for each of the load shapes.

MR. POCH:  Right.  So that dollar amount would be the value of the deferral of what you would otherwise spend to carry the thousand-dollar investment per year, if you had had to make the thousand dollar investment infrastructure.  You are deferring it for a year so that the avoided cost is the value of not having to have made that investment a year sooner and carry it on your books.

MR. WINSTONE:  I think it would be a challenge to apply it to a specific project or anything.  It is just an approximation, or the value that you could apply for the purposes of the TRC test.

MR. POCH:  Right.  I didn't mean to suggest otherwise.  I'm just saying -- I'm just trying to understand.  It is the value of the deferral for one year for that amount; it's because you don't have to spend that investment until a year later, so for that year you didn't have to pay the mortgage on that investment.

MR. WINSTONE:  It also assumes an effective useful -- it is based on an assumed effective useful life --


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Fair enough.  So call it what you like, but isn't that like saying, in my example, a thousand dollars, you defer it for a year and it's worth 60, that there is an implicit 6 percent carrying charge, against the $60 a year?

MR. WINSTONE:  I understand where you're going, and I understand how Mr. Chernick back-calculated those percentages, but the fact remains that's not the way the calculation was completed.

It's based on -- and that's because it's based on a revenue requirement and not just simply a straight carrying charge.

MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you.  Panel, there were a couple of questions from the prior panel that got bumped to you from -- Ms. Oliver-Glasford bumped the questions to herself.  I just want to get some quick responses here on the record.

Can you confirm that apart from your response to Mr. Chernick, you've not analyzed the -- and Mr. Neme, you've not analyzed the possible rate-reducing impacts of DSM-reducing marginal gas supply that's more expensive than average gas supply?  I do understand that is implicitly in your avoided cost, but you have not looked at the rate-reducing impact of that.

MR. WELBURN:  It is included implicitly in the calculation that we do.  Regards to have we looked at that in particular?  Not in any sufficient detail.

MR. POCH:  In simple terms, if we -- since your avoided costs comes up with -- since your SENDOUT model comes up with deferral -- rather, avoidable upstream or supply costs, gas commodity costs that are higher than the average costs customers pay, and that is, indeed, the case, then the difference would be indicative of the benefit to all ratepayers.

[Witness panel confers]

Just to finish my thought, because rates -- sorry.

[Witness panel confers]

That's just because rates are based on average gas costs. 


MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, can you --


MR. POCH:  Because rates are based on average gas costs, and your SENDOUT model allows you to, because you've just agreed, reduce the marginal gas supply, which is more expensive than average, then there's a benefit of reduction in rates to all customers.

MR. WELBURN:  I don't know if I -- I couldn't really comment on the actual impact of the rates to customers.  I'm not as involved in the actual rate allocation, so...

MR. POCH:  Nobody on this panel has any reason to disagree with my assertion?  Hearing none, we'll move on.

And similarly, to the extent -- your analysis of your -- let me ask again.  To the extent that you can reduce more expensive transmission costs by picking -- that component -- it is the same effect, that you've got your average transmission costs are part of your average commodity gas costs that go into rates, but you would obviously try -- your SENDOUT model would naturally try, to the -- within the constraints that it has to -- you've set it at that it has to function within, it would naturally try to lay off the combined, most expensive alternatives, counting both commodity and capacity costs.

MR. WELBURN:  Based on the way that we have to contract for transportation, all of our transportation contracts have demand charges, so to the extent that we actually fill those transportation contracts with supply or not, they will remain in the costs associated with our gas supply portfolio.  So there wouldn't be a reduction in transportation per se, but you would have a reduction in the more expensive supply procurement ports as a result of a reduction in demand.  I don't know if that answers your question.

MR. POCH:  Not quite, but you know what?  I'm not going to go on after it, because we're going to try to move along here.

Now, Mr. -- is it -- I'm sorry, is it Mr. Welch, correct, from Navigant, on --


MR. WELCH:  Yes, sir.

MR. POCH:  -- on potential studies.  My apologies.

Mr. Welch, you took, I think it's fair to say, great umbrage at Mr. Neme's critique of -- and you called out one particular aspect of it, and that was, he says that -- let me remind everybody what the issue was here -- he says, in effect, if there's 100 appliances out there and they have a 20-year average life, 5 percent in each year on average will die, be available for upgrading, assuming, of course, that there is a random distribution of ages at the start of your -- of the period, and versus what you say, which is -- if I've got it right -- that the number available in any given year for upgrading will decline obviously by the time you've done them all, you've done them all, but the number available in any given year would step down.

And Mr. Neme says that leads to a very significant difference between you and him.  He says if you had a 15- year life, more than -- it would understate the size of equipment replacement market by 60 percent if you had a -- I'm sorry, if you had a ten-year measure life, in the tenth year of the analysis.

Have I got the difference between you right, first of all?

MR. WELCH:  I wouldn't say entirely.  I'm happy to elaborate on what I feel the differences are between Mr. Neme's approach and my approach.

First, I'll note that focusing on any single year of the analysis -- for instance, Mr. Neme focuses on the tenth year of the analysis, and does his calculation and the difference is in his approach versus my approach looking at a single year.

That is a misleading way of looking at it, and the reason is that you have to look at not a single year's effect; you have to look at the cumulative retirements that are occurring from year zero all the way through year 10, and that is a more appropriate way to compare the two.

I will provide, by way of example, that I would suggest that if were to do it Chris Neme's way and compare his results, his year 11 savings estimate -- which for example, for a measure lasting with an EUL of ten years --his year 11 estimate of the turnover of those measures or the savings of those measures is exactly zero.

I am suggesting that that would be an infinite percentage difference between reality and his estimate.  So it's pointing out that that is a flawed an approach in looking at it.

MR. POCH:  We all appreciate, of course, that there's -- that measures don't end on year 10.  There is going to be presumably some kind of normal distribution curve around a mean, right?

MR. WELCH:  Not normal, but, yes.  There is more of a Weibull distribution, if you want to go there.  But, yes, there is a distribution mean.

MR. POCH:  That is not a difference between the two of you?

MR. WELCH:  No, that is not.  The difference between the two is that our approach actually accounts for the fact that there is a distribution, and Mr. Neme's approach does not account for the fact that there is a distribution.

MR. POCH:  So what you are saying then is we will see less opportunity -- less market size for a given upgrade opportunity over time?

MR. WELCH:  That is not a fair statement.  What you will see is a declining opportunity to claim savings associated with the retirement of a technology, given an assumed baseline.  And that is a very important point is this given an assumed baseline.

Mr. Neme is very adamant about the fact that there is no evidence to support this declining opportunity, or declining sales, if you will.

I would submit that if we look at the rate of sales over which we are claiming savings for, he also has presented a profile that is declining over time; it just has a different shape.

His profile, if I take a 10-year measure life and look over a 20-year time horizon, his savings are constant, constant, constant, constant, until I hit all the way through year 10.  And then they drop to zero, very discontinuously and abruptly in year 11, and are zero from there on out.  That is a declining savings profile.

Our savings profile is more realistic; it is more continuous.  It starts higher, it starts dropping off, it continues past year 10 to recognize the fact that there are measures that will in fact last longer than ten years, as Mr. Neme has acknowledged.  And therefore, you couldn't really claim savings from those measures until year 11 or 12, or 15, or 20.

His approach of having a constant value dropping to zero necessitates -- there is no way that that can happen unless every single measure that was in the existing stock has failed within ten years.

But he himself acknowledges that is not reality.  You reiterate that that is not reality.

MR. POCH:  All right.   I'm going to let Mr. Neme pick it up from there, because I can see I'm getting beyond my depth here.

Panel, there were a couple of questions about DSM and IRP, integrated resource planning.  We included excerpts of Mr. Neme's thoughts on this at page 25 of our materials, I think -- sorry, my apologies.  It's starting at page 28.

He suggested some improvements to your approach and I'd like to just get your feedback on them.  One is he thought that -- and I apologize.  I think I may have covered this in panel 1, maybe it is with Union -- my memory is beginning to fail me here.

But hourly peak day load shapes; getting a handle on that should be an immediate priority for study, because when you look at an infrastructure avoidance, that's what your planners have to deal with.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.  We would see that as part of the study scope, yes.

MR. POCH:  And he says you want to look at at least a ten-year forecast of infrastructure needs, so you've we got the lead time you need.  Is that fair?

MS. THOMPSON:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. POCH:  And then he guess on -- it's on page 31 of our material, about halfway down, he said when do you your case study approach -- and he appreciates that it's a good approach, but he says you should you should actually get some experience on the ground, and he said and you should do some particular -- some very detailed analysis when you are doing those case studies.

He gives some examples, and I'm just going to read a few of them in here.  You'd want to assess the mix of customers in the targeted area, that's residential versus commercial and so on; how those -- the customer make-up in that particular area may differ from the average customers in your broader service territory, by income level, or education, what have you.  Presumably his concern there is how you would design programs.

Then the types of loads being served, for example, through a review of location-specific responses to saturation surveys, historic participation in the utility's different efficiency programs, as well as other factors.

Would you agree that that's -- you'd like to get down to that level of detail, ideally?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think those are apt observations.  And I would say it's again reiterating kind of the discussion we've had a couple of times that in terms of this integrated resource planning in a case study, it has to be extremely geo-specific, so geo-targetted.

We have to understand that particular community, what the uptake might be.  We have to have a great deal of certainty.  So yes, I'm agreeing with you.

MR. POCH:  And then switching to the transition plan, which is how you're getting from here to there on IRP, he suggests that your idea of using this case study approach is reasonable.  But if you go beyond paper studies and actually get some on-the-ground experience, do some real world examples, go out and there and try it.

Does that make sense to you?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, and indeed that is what we have proposed in our study scope, and I reiterated during my opening presentation.

MR. POCH:  Great.  And now Union indicated in the technical conference that they actually had applications for the Board that have gone in since the GTA decision, where the Board instructed you to get a move on IRP and develop transition plans, but they hadn't yet been able to consider comes DSM as an alternative to any of those projects.

Do you have any applications that have gone in before the Board for infrastructure approvals since the GTA case decision?

MS. THOMPSON:  No, we have not.

MR. POCH:  Would it be your intention that, if and when do you make any applications to the Board, you will be at least in this -- obviously it won't be perfect yet, but you will make some attempt, as part of that, to consider DSM as an alternative?

MS. THOMPSON:  We're actually hoping as part of the IRP study to take a look at the upcoming forecast leave to construct project and see if there would be an appropriate fit.  I think the difficulty that we have right now is that there are still a lot of unanswered questions.  It is untested in the natural gas industry.


So it would be difficult to say at this point, without at least getting the initial start on the integrated resource planning study how, in fact, it would be incorporated, but it is definitely -- those projects are among the list that we would be considering as a potential for a pilot project.

I think the other thing that we just need to keep in mind is that -- the importance of getting it right, so the nature of what we do in distribution planning with a hydraulic analysis, is that we need to ensure that we have the capacity available, both for our existing and future customers, and be able to also have the capacity to accommodate any changes that may occur within the distribution system.

So I can give an example.  So for the electric industry, if there was a particular issue on their system, once -- say it was a -- something technical, once the technical issue was resolved, there is an automatic restoration process, whereas in the gas industry, it is more of a manual process, where we would have to isolate a segment of main, we would have to isolate each particular customer that's been affected by the outage.  We would need to ensure that's complete, energize the main, and then visit each customer a second time to do an appliance inspection and then relay, so if that type of situation were to occur, that could be in the order of hours, days, or weeks, so that's just the importance of making sure that we go through the process with the IRP study and getting it right.

MR. POCH:  Right, okay, you've got serious costs if you get it wrong.  Understood.

I just have just briefly a very couple of questions -- short questions on the 15 percent non-energy benefits adder.  In your panel -- your prior panel's evidence, Exhibit K5.1, at page 19 they took Mr. Neme's approach and just substituted in a carbon value equivalent to what the current trading value is for 2018 in the Quebec-California auctions, and that value was, I think, $15.22 Canadian per tonne of carbon; do you recall that?  I think, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, you are probably in the best position to respond.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I recall that.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And you came up with -- using that, you came up with -- that the calculated cost of carbon for your -- for the program that you've got for 2018 would be $36.5 million; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right, and you compared that, and you said the 15 percent adder, based on your avoided costs in 2018, would be just under $30 million; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  So can we agree that if -- if we -- if we assume that the price of carbon isn't -- is going to hold through the coming years just at its current level 00 and in fact, I gather there's been an auction since it's gone up a little, but we won't get into that -- there'd be nothing left in the adder to account for other factors; right?  It would be basically soaked up to deal with that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think what we were trying to show by doing this was really an illustrative example of what we're talking about, just in terms of sheer magnitude, so that the Board hopefully found this helpful in grounding some of these discussions around the appropriateness of kind of the size of the adder.

MR. POCH:  No.  That was very helpful.  We've done something similar.  But don't want to -- don't take that as a criticism by any means.  I just wanted to note, though, that if you look at page 3 of our materials, where -- this is -- page 1, 2, and 3 are the Minister's March 31st, 2014 directive, Conservation First's framework directive, and that's where the 15 percent adder's first proposed for the CDM sector.

On page 3 there it says -- he proposes 15 percent, and specifies it's for matters such as environmental, economic, and social benefits.

So I guess what I was asking is if you use all -- if the whole 15 -- if more than the 15 percent, as currently envisioned, is -- well, if the 15 percent isn't even adequate to deal with the current estimate of 2018 carbon, based on the actual trades that are happening now, that kind of leaves nothing for the Minister's other concerns there, economic and social; would you agree?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I would agree with that.  I think just a couple of contextual pieces is that we do need to recognize that the carbon price isn't in place yet, so I think in terms of a proxy, you know, there is some sense of reasonableness there for, certainly, the current year, the next year, or until such time as the carbon price is in place, but, yes, I agree with your comment.

I'd also like to add a contextual piece, that we, you know, we have looked at this issue of carbon, and we did so in the last potential study.  We did so again in this potential study, as we recognized there's always changing policies, and we did consider a carbon price in our economic potential analysis and subsequent achievable potential analysis, considering a $30 and a $60 carbon price.  And I don't know if you're interested in the outcome of that and what that told us, but --


MR. POCH:  We have that, it's okay.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  You've got that.

MR. POCH:  No, I guess what my question is is the fact that we don't yet have cap and trade in Ontario doesn't mean that we don't yet have the environmental impacts of carbon; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  And the whole point of the Minister's adder is because some of these things aren't yet monetized and internalized.  We want to -- he's proposing that they be nevertheless counted through this adder for CDM and then the Board has adopted an adder for gas; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct, I'm not disagreeing.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And so I guess what I'm saying is if the market out there today is any measure of what that environmental concern is worth, then there's nothing left for anything else, and I think, you know, we've -- you've already responded to that question.  So let me ask a different one.

On a BTU-to-BTU basis, electricity versus gas -- electricity avoided costs are much higher than gas avoided costs right now, aren't they?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I don't have that full knowledge, but I would assume that the price of the commodity is, you know, in a different place at the moment.

MR. POCH:  Well, to do a -- to heat a house, it is a lot more expensive to heat with electricity these days than with natural gas; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that's partly the efficiency properties of the source as well.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  I'm going to leave that there.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Brett?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Panel.  Good afternoon, panel.  I wanted to start by just noting that the -- when the -- the Board discussed this question of DSM infrastructure-related studies in their framework, as you know, and one of the points that they made is that they would be looking for a consistent methodology to be used between the two utilities.

Now, I understand that you have -- you agree with that; do you?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's what we understand the framework to say.

MR. BRETT:  And you have produced a study, an outline of a study.  Navigant has produced it for you.  Who's going to answer questions -- is there someone from Navigant that can -- is the person from Navigant that did this here, or are you going to answer questions -- your company people --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Are you speaking about the integrated resource plan studies, though?

MR. BRETT:  I'm talking about the 11-page outline of the report that is entitled "Integrated Resource Planning Study" that's at Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3.

Most of my questions will be around this study and the accompanying transition plan, so this is just a -- I'm expecting to ask you folks some questions on it.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  My initial question was:  This was prepared by Navigant?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It was prepared by Enbridge, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I see.  Enbridge did this?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  I stand corrected.  I confused it with the other one.  There or lot of studies floating around here today.  Well, that makes it easier.

So going back to the subject of the consistent methodology, how are you going to do that?  Do you have an agreement with Union at this time that they're going to use the same methodology that you've outlined?

I note in passing that Union did not file a -- did not file an outline of the study as you did, nor did they file a transition plan.  I think we discussed that the other day.  But my question now is: How are you going to get a consistent methodology with Union?  Have you agreed on one?  Have they agreed to adopt your study outline?  Where does that stand?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's fair to say that, you know, we were -- we dealt with this issue a fair bit during the course of the GTA project, so had a little bit more experience going into this particular filing.

We did have a half day discovery session with Union Gas, where we shared, at that point, a draft study scope and kind of chatted with them about some of the issues.  And, you know, things have been quite busy since, so we haven't been able to pick that discussion up, so --


MR. BRETT:  That meeting you had was January 15th, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, as I understand your materials, and I think this issue has been talked about a bit, but when you get to planning DSM as an alternative for distribution infrastructure expansion, the discussion is going to get very specific very quickly, correct?

In other words, you are going to be dealing with DSM proposals, or trying to generate DSM proposals on what you call specific networks or sub-networks of your system, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That would be correct.

MR. BRETT:  And how many networks and how many sub- networks on your system do you have?

MS. THOMPSON:  I have to apologize.  I don't know the number off the top of my head.

MR. BRETT:  Could you -- let me ask you this:  What do you define as a network and a sub-network, broadly speaking?

MS. THOMPSON:  So we have a number of pressure classes, so our extra high pressure, high pressure plastic, intermediate pressure, medium pressure, and low pressure; so those are the main classes.

MR. BRETT:  Those are classes of pipe?

MS. THOMPSON:  Pressure classes, and within each of those classes, there are other networks that are defined by a specific number, and it is typically one -- there will be a number of networks within each of the pressure classes, and the networks could be developed for more than one reason, just by the nature of that pressure class itself, or it could have been as a result of how the system grew and developed over the years.

MR. BRETT:  Would you be willing to provide an undertaking that just gave us the number of networks and the number of sub-networks, with perhaps a bit of an explanatory note to it?

MS. THOMPSON:  I can do that.  I just wanted to capacity get some clarity on your definition of sub- network.

MR. BRETT:  Well, that was your phrase.  The phrase that was in the material, as I recall, was a network and a sub-network.  Maybe there they're synonymous.

But the notion was that your system was broken down into nodes, portions, and I think the point that was being made was that in comparison to what we know as DSM today, which is across the board general system-wide, DSM viewed in this new way, different way, is going to be very specific to a particular proposed expansion, a piece of infrastructure expansion which will occur in a specific part of your system, and the DSM will be weighed against that specific expansion, right, against that particular line or regulator-affiliated infrastructure?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  So that's what I was meaning there.

MS. THOMPSON:  So we don't track them as sub-networks.  I think when that term was used, it was made to represent probably an element of the pressure class category, and then an element of our network numbers.

And that's something that's easily pulled.  I can even pull that at a break for you.

MR. BRETT:  Well, the number of networks would be fine.  I'm assuming that it's the -- I mean, is this something that could be displayed on a graph or pictorially, or is it more abstract than that?  Is it layered somehow that you can't -- I mean, can you see it in 2D or is it 3D?

MS. THOMPSON:  It if we were to provide the number of networks, it would be just one number.  So we have a hydraulic simulation model and it has all of the networks within it, and it would basically be a map of our piping system.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, that would be helpful if you can provide the number and the map.

MS. THOMPSON:  So for the map -- I'm just trying to understand what specifically you are interested in.  I'm not just not sure if a map would help.

MR. BRETT:  What I'm interested in really is -- it goes ultimately to the nature of this study, and the extent to which it needs to consider; what number of projects it needs to consider, how do you make sure you get representative projects across your system.

You know, we're talking about specific -- specific opportunities here.  So I'm assuming that when you mention networks, different networks, and when you make that distinction that this kind of DSM has to take into account all of these different networks and sub-networks, that that has some meaning to you.

So I want to understand in what way.  I want to understand the nature of this -- what the implications of that are for the nature of this study going forward.  That's what I want to start with.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think if I can add to Ms. Thompson's comments, you know, that's part of the reason that we're starting this study is there's a lot of things we still need to understand.

So perhaps you're not hearing what you're hoping to hear, because we do need to study it and a lot of these things may be determined as we start to flesh out in more detail the study scope, or work on this and actually implement a study.

MR. BRETT:  Well, all right, maybe we'll go back a half step.

You said you couldn't recall the number of networks.  Can you give us an undertaking to provide the number of networks?

MS. THOMPSON:  I can do that for you.

MR. LAPP:  It's J7.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE NUBMER OF NETWORKS


MS. THOMPSON:  Mr. Brett, if I may add something?  You mentioned something when you were just speaking there, you're looking for potential opportunities.  I think the opportunities are more around our forecasted reinforcement projects.  I think that's where we're going to start looking.

In addition to that -- so that will be one piece of where we're going to start looking.

MR. BRETT:  I understand.

MS. THOMPSON:  And then another piece is looking -- there may be isolated areas of our network where we can really control the data.  That may be another potential area where we may look --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. THOMPSON:  -- as opposed to a specific reinforcement project, because some reinforcement projects may be in a very heavily integrated area, and any number of changes could affect how that system operates.

And one of the challenges that we have is that we only have measurement in so many locations.  We don't have --


MR. BRETT:  Measurement of pressures?

MS. THOMPSON:  Pardon me?

MR. BRETT:  Measurement of pressures?


MS. THOMPSON:  We have pressure measurement in select locations.  One of the challenges is volumetric measurements.  We have it at our gate stations.  We don't have it on any of our district stations that are downstream.  And then we have monthly information that comes from the individual meters at customers' premises, and we may, for a number of customers, have our lead data.


So what I'm trying to get at is that there is a lot to it.   When we go through the study we're going to be looking at the entire system and really say, okay, well, where will we get the most value out of a particular study area?  It may not be with a reinforcement project, it may be starting smaller and looking at that that isolated area, and then once we really get to know all the subject matter around it, then we'll move it into a bigger, more integrated system.

MR. BRETT:  Understood.  So you may, in fact, just as an aside while we're on the subject, you may, as a result, if you move down this road you may ultimately be involved in putting some additional measurement equipment on, for example, district stations or...

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it would be safe to say we would certainly, as we go down this -- one of the things we have mentioned, the catch phrase "certainty", and when you're looking to offset infrastructure, you'd want not just 80 per cent certainty, you'd want, you know, almost perfect certainty, or at least as close as you could get if that's -- you know, those kind of decisions are being made, so I think that would probably require additional metering at the customer sites and perhaps other metering as well.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I -- and safe to say, probably, it might also require additional metering -- well, as you say, at customer sites to be able to, among other things, record what savings you are getting with particular DSM initiatives?  In other words, it seems to me there will be a tilt toward wishing to have more measurement rather than less of the results of various DSM programs and approaches; is that fair at a conceptual level?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  At a conceptual level I don't disagree that we're going to need certainty around what the actual usages are in various customer sites, in order to make the kind of determinations that, you know, at some point in the future we may be able to make.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, and actually, you've got a -- as I think about it, you've got a twofold reason:  You've got to measure the volumes for purposes of knowing what your potential load growth is over time, but also for understanding what the results of certain DSM measures would be on that growth; fair enough?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I see how you're driving them to be the same, but I would still hold to what we chatted about yesterday, which is that difference between the meters is -- you get to see what the usage is and what the numbers say at any given time, but trying to then pare that down to what drove that difference.  It's not always as simple as seeing what the impact of that DSM program was, so you're making assumptions about what the baseline is and some other things --

MR. BRETT:  We are, I suppose -- well, I don't know about that, but I don't want to argue that now; we'll do that later.  But all I'm really pointing to is that you're talking about, as you say, 100 per cent reliability, and the more you talk about 100 per cent reliability, I think, does that not imply that you'd like to know exactly what the savings are when you put a DSM measure in?  You don't want to take a chance.  If you launch a five-year DSM program as an alternative to -- as an alternative to an infrastructure reinforcement or, as you say, in a limited system, you are going to want to know as you go along what those savings are.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I agree with that, and I would say we also need to consider that that verification, whether it be in the form of meters or people checking those, that's going to have a substantial additional cost, and that's one of the premises of, within our study scope we talk about metering, and we really talk about cost-effectiveness, and that's to your point.

MR. BRETT:  Well, the -- you're familiar with the Toronto Hydro -- the recent Toronto Hydro pilot plant that they've -- pilot project that they've started in one of their -- for one of their stations?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not familiar with that.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Well, just in passing, they have done that, and it has a lot of the aspects of what you're talking about in your -- in your 11-page summary, so it's interesting.  It is sort of right along the lines that you're discussing, but -- and as I understand it, and the -- when you talk about -- and I'm back now to the scope of the study.  When you talk about projects, pilot projects, or -- I think that's what you call them, specific case studies, you talk about case studies -- you're going to -- as I understand it, these are not paper studies in the -- these are actually studies of this type.  You're going to pick an area out, pick an opportunity, as I was talking to Ms. Thompson a moment ago, pick a piece of your grid, and you're going to -- where you anticipate having to do, for one reason or another, additional infrastructure in the next, say, five years.


As I understand this, you're then going to say, All right, can we conceive and implement a DSM program that avoids the need to go ahead with that infrastructure in five years?  And you're actually going to do it; am I right?  You're going to do the program, implement it, and see how -- see, in fact, whether it has avoided the need for the infrastructure to be put in?


Am I correct in that?  In other words, it isn't just a study that analyzes on paper what's likely to happen; you're going to want to do what I think Toronto Hydro is doing, is to actually do the project and see how it works.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is certainly our aim, Mr. Brett.  We have, you know, done a lot of understanding in trying to look into this, and we do feel that it needs a measured and an appropriate approach, and we would like to undertake a real case study.

MR. BRETT:  So that -- so that I just want to understand.  I'm not -- you look -- it seems to me like we're going to be into a period that over the period of this plan, this six-year plan, you're going to execute one or more of these case studies, and the results will come in, and by the end of the plan you'll have an assessment, really, and only then will you propose to move forward with a more generalized approach through your system; is that right?  That's sort of how I'm reading this, but...

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that's captured quite well, yes.  Yeah, I think timing is going to be something we're going to need to scope out, and I note that Synapse in their recommendations says that these sorts of studies take six months, but I think what we're proposing here is a little bit more complex and involved, so perhaps it would be longer --

MR. BRETT:  Well, the study -- I agree that you would say that the -- yes, all right.  Let's leave it at that.


I -- now, just going back again to the concept of the case study, and bearing in mind what you've told me about networks and specific parts of your system, how you have isolated parts and you have parts that make it more difficult to assess what's going on.  Certain parts of the downtown Toronto, I suppose, would be in the latter category, would they, Ms. Thompson?

MS. THOMPSON:  Downtown is -- would be quite integrated.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah, well, that -- then -- and leaving that aside for a moment, what I want to be -- what I'm interested in is, how will you ensure that the case studies that -- I mean, are you going to do one or two or three?  You may not know that yet, but the general question:  How are you going to ensure that those are really representative, because you're going to use the results from those case studies to draw some conclusions about how this method may work.  How reprogramming or reformulating part of DSM into an alternative for infrastructure, how that's going to work, how your system is going to work system-wide.


So I take it you'd agree with me that it would be very important that those case studies were really representative of -- as representative as possible of the  -- of your system as a whole.  Or let's put it this way, those parts of your system as a whole where this kind of DSM would have a future would be useful; is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think you make some interesting points, Mr. Brett.  I just -- I'm not sure that we'll know how what we do as a case study will play out for the broader planning efforts.  We're certainly --


MR. BRETT:  Well, I suppose you haven't started your study yet, so you may have a better idea once the study has been underway.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Are you going to do that yourself, or are you going to hire an outside player to do that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not sure if that's finalized at this point.  We've simply put together a study scope at this juncture.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  In a broad way, and I don't -- are you familiar with, have you had a chance to look at all yet at any of the -- any of the US -- any of the other efforts?  I think you mentioned actually in your notes that Fortis had something underway that you were looking at.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  You've talked to Fortis.  Have they got a plan in the operation now?  Where do they stand, in your judgment?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So they, as I understand it, are working on their third iteration of a long term resource plan.

I would like to point out that what they have done to date is really that first intersection that we've talked about, the passive deferral, very much like what we've been doing in Ontario, just not pulling the whole thing together, if you will, but very similar in nature.

So they have not had any experience with, you know, or done anything around the GO targeted offset or deferral.  So they're different animals --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  -- and DSM does provide those broad-based benefits, which are a benefit regardless of whether they're in a specific area.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  What about looking at the American stuff?  Have you looked, for example, at Consolidated Edison's plans?  They have probably -- according to what the studies here say, they and the California utility seem to have the most developed geo-specific programs.

I mean, they've been in this -- in the case of Consolidated Edison, it appears they've been in this for 15 years on the electricity side.  And it appears that, say, Vermont Gas Systems has been in this on the gas side for the last, maybe, five, six, seven years.

Have you looked at their experience at this stage?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Well, over the course of the GTA hearing and since that point, we've certainly been scanning and trying to understand some of these jurisdictions, and what they're doing better.

It still holds that no utility that we can find has anything clear or transparent around a geo-targetted offset of gas infrastructure.  Even in BC, we were aware of the discussion around the challenges that even they're having in trying to approach this IRP in the same way that electric utilities are, you know.  In one of their most  recent long term resource plans --


MR. BRETT:  Who is that again?  Sorry, I just missed the initials.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The British Columbia Utilities Commission.  You know, I think we're all trying to understand how to approach this, and I think it's important that we learn how to do that in a way that is unique and appropriate for the natural gas marketplace and utilities.

So it's something that everybody's learning from.  Nobody has -- so what we're doing is extremely leading-edge, in terms of study.

MR. BRETT:  Just as a matter of interest, have you looked at Europe, the Netherlands or Britain?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, I have not.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Just give me a moment here.  You would anticipate -- well, a question.

Do you expect that if you do develop -- well, let me rephrase that.  Will your study look at whether or not you need to -- or it's appropriate to change your shareholder incentive bonus approach in the event you shift to this sort of integrated DSM infrastructure?

I just note that, as you may be aware, Consolidated Edison has a proposal before the New York Public Services Commission at the moment, asking them to approve a revised form of shareholder incentive.

As I understand it, they haven't yet got approval for it.  But do you think this will be something that you will cover off in your study?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm sorry, I'm not familiar with what they've got before.  My apologies.

MR. BRETT:  Well, they've -- that's fine, but I guess my question is, just forgetting about them for the moment, in your study that you're going to do with you and Union, are you going to assess whether or not shifting DSM activities to some degree, to a -- to be an explicit alternative to specific pieces of infrastructure expansion, which is what this is all about, as I understand it, are you going to be looking at whether or not it's necessary to fine-tune the incentive regime that you have currently?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think anything is possible out of the study scope.

MR. BRETT:  Now just as matter of -- a final question.  I'm looking here at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 3 -- I don't think you have to turn this up -- it is your integrated resource planning evidence, and it is just four pages, and I'm just interested in the first page.

It talks about a hearing that took place in 1993, and I recall being involved this that hearing.  I think Mr. Poch was and perhaps -- I don't know who else in the room was, but EBO-1693.

But in that proceeding, the Board actually said that they wanted to go down this road.  And your evidence, interestingly enough, quotes part of the Board's decision on page 1, and it finishes off -- I'll just read the last sentence, which says:
"Once the supply side assessment is completed...,"
and I think that by that they mean lease cost planning,
"the Board can proceed with the final phase of the IRP proceedings, i.e. the combination of DSM funding and supply-side management into an integrated resource plan."

Now, that was in 1993; we are now in 2015.  Now that's eighteen years, or something like that.  Do you know -- do you have any views or any information on, you know, why that went into hiatus or into hibernation?  Was that something that you can speak to?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I can't.  However, I think it does speak to how difficult and complicated this issue might be, and I -- you know, I think those signals are all around us in the North American market and from what we're seeing.

So certainly, you know, as I was talking about that commission decision from December 3rd, which is, you know, on public record, they even say the panel agrees with the FEU, which is the Fortis Energy Utility, but the steps required to take a resource plan for an integrated electric utility are different than for a gas utility.

And so I can't speak to why this particular gap between 1993 and today, but I think it's a complicated issue and certainly one that we have proactively sought to do moving forward.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, thank you, those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.  Mr. Quinn?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair, and good afternoon, panel.  Maybe I'll try it this way.

I appreciate we've gone through a lot of detail today in terms of people's views on avoided costs, and I think I'm going to approach this slightly differently in terms of focusing on, to be specific, the upstream costs, which would include commodity storage and transportation.  I assume that would be you, Mr. Welburn, that I would speak to predominantly in that area?

MR. WELBURN:  That sounds appropriate, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we -- and I say that because -- and I did provide a compendium which we may or may not have to reference, but if -- just if we do need a reference, it might be appropriate to mark it as an exhibit if we may, Madam Chair.  I think they were placed on the dais this morning.

MS. LONG:  Do you have any extra copies?  I'm not taking your copy, am I, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Actually, there's a second one there...

I provided them to Enbridge also this morning, but again, they can be probably brought up on the screen, I would hope, if we have to reference them.

My hope is, Madam Chair, that we will not, actually, because Mr. Welburn was not here for the technical conference, and that was acknowledged early in the transcript I provided.  The materials I provided are all out of the technical conference and the subsequent undertakings from the technical conference, so they are all information from this proceeding.  I was just trying to do it to be efficient.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  So let's mark this.

MR. MILLAR:  It is Exhibit K7.5, and it's materials filed by FRPO.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.5:  cross-examination compendium of FRPO for enbridge panel 4

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Welburn, again, I was -- had the opportunity to speak to Ms. Oliver-Glasford at the technical conference, and we were dealing with these issues of upstream avoided costs, and I realize I just gave away my copy with some of my notes, so there is a --- scrambling for that.  I apologize.  There's...  Yeah, there's more copies on the Enbridge panel.

MS. LONG:  I'm fine.  We can share, don't worry about it.

MR. WINSTONE:  We have an extra copy here.

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, I was updating what I was going to cover as a result of Mr. Poch's examination, and I wanted to separate it from that, and so I think we can do that clearly, and we may not even have to refer to it, except for the undertaking which is on the very back page, which hopefully will be brought up on the screen.  Thank you.

So Mr. Welburn, when we were talking about the avoided cost methodology as it relates to commodity, storage, and transportation, I understand from the discussion we had and from the undertaking which is on the very back page on page 14 that this has been -- this avoided cost methodology has been Enbridge's approach for some time.  The oldest reference here is back to the avoided cost for 2012 in EB-2012-0394.

MR. WELBURN:  That sounds appropriate, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, again, I might be separating the inputs that Mr. Poch was referring to, to the methodologies and the assumptions that go into the SENDOUT model.  Now, to be clear, I'm not asking for the SENDOUT model.  I respect it is a complex model.

But beyond inputs and constraints you put into the model, there's also an element of judgment, and you are going to be informing the model with how you are going to approach the purchase of incremental commodity that is different from your gas-supply design criteria that you had at the outset of your gas-supply plan; would that be correct?

MR. WELBURN:  Yeah, the changes I believe you are referring to is in relation to how we manage the storage targets that started in our 2015 gas-supply plan.

In order to do that we would set the limits as far as the amount of deliverability that needs to be maintained in SENDOUT to match those levels that we had discussed throughout that hearing.

And it is still the -- I'll say the model's responsibility.  The model will then do its cost optimization based on those parameters that we set in SENDOUT.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, you've done a better job than me by cutting to the end and not walking through it.  But I would like to walk through it for the benefit of the Board here, and I appreciate where you're coming from, and to be affirming, that is the direction I'm heading, but I want to make sure the record's clear, because it distinguishes Enbridge's approach and the Ontario market.


So for the purposes of doing that, one of the things I wanted to note is that prior to 2015 you had based your gas-supply planning and your storage fill based upon the multi-peaking design weather criteria approved by the Board in EBR-490?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, prior to 2015 we had approved design criteria, which included 18 multi-peaks that we would incorporate into our demand profile over the winter season, and because we incorporated those multi-peaks into our demand profile, then SENDOUT was required to ensure that it had the necessary assets in place in and utilized in order to meet those demands.

The change that we made in 2015, the multi-peaks are still there, but probably not as relevant as they were before, because the change that we made in 2015 was to require SENDOUT to hold its deliverability at its maximum level for January and February, and then in March we were requiring the model to maintain the maximum deliverability that was required for the peak day in March for the entire month of March.

And as a result of that, well, there's a number of things that drove us to wanting to go down that route, partly in order to mitigate the risk associated with prolonged cold weather that we experienced two years ago, which resulted in some significant cost increases for our customers.

And so that methodology was proposed as a way to help mitigate a certain level of that risk, and so we had put that into place, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Welburn, that's well-stated.

I'm going to break that down into a second category first, but I'm going to summarize the first one, so one of the fundamental changes is you are going to maintain the storage level, instead of historically where you kept the storage level to -- at a level to the end of January, early February, you're removing that point to the end of February and early March; is that correct?

MR. WELBURN:  It may just -- I'll try restating it, and you tell me if I've got you -- I've got it correct.  So what we have done is, originally prior to 2015 we had ensured that we had maximum deliverability in our storage for our peak day, which would have been January 15th, and then there would have been subsequent peak days from the multi-peaks that occurred after that, and SENDOUT would have been required to ensure that it's got sufficient deliverability combined with the other assets that it had in place in order to meet those multi-peaks throughout the year.

The change in 2015 was that, rather than just meeting certain multi-peaks throughout the year that were not all the same level, January 15th would have been our main peak day, and all the multi-peaks after that would have declined as you went through the winter.

The change for 2015 is that we would have to be able to meet that January peak day for January 15th and then we would have to maintain storage levels at such a point that the deliverability would not drop until the end of February, and then we would only allow the model to drop the deliverability down to a point that would meet the March peak day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that last part I think is essential that you move the January 15th peak deliverability requirements to the end of February; correct?

MR. WELBURN:  Correct, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And then you have established a subsequent March peak day for the entire month of March.

MR. WELBURN:  Of March, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So there was a second component to the changes, as I understand it, and that was using medium-term weather forecasts as a means of assessing medium-term demand impacts in order to help decide whether or not you should adjust your supply plan for the upcoming month or the remainder of the winter; is that correct?

MR. WELBURN:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so you are buying the month ahead, you are buying the rest of the winter to maintain your storage levels.

MR. WELBURN:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  And that is opposed to where periodically -- and was evidenced in 2013-14 -- you may have only been looking a week ahead and buying that week ahead or even, in a worst-case scenario, the day ahead?

MR. WELBURN:  That's correct, due to the nature of weather forecasts we found that going much further than a week ahead tended to be a lot less reliable, but what we are -- what we have done is started to incorporate longer range weather forecasts in there to a certain degree, to help inform us should we be forecasting to see a significant increase in degree days coming up.  Then it would give us an opportunity to potentially procure some supply in advance of that occurring, if it was so necessary.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  I'm going to say this a little differently, and hopefully this is a proposition to summarize the effect of this.  And you can tell me if you agree with me, and can add caveats to it.

By anticipating weather ahead and buying ahead to maintain these storage levels, you are, in effect, buying your commodity prior to when it's actually needed and keeping it either -- adding into storage, or keeping more gas in storage, so that the gas -- so during peaks of high demand when gas does tend to drive up prices, you are able to pull gas from storage which has the effect of lowering your overall cost of gas.

Would you agree with that?

MR. WELBURN:  I would agree with that, and I'd also add that the winter that we've just experienced last year was the first time that we had actually incorporated that change in how we manage our storage levels.

And even though we went through a very similar type winter, as far as a degree day experience that we had and the level of demand that went through our system, we did not run into the same situation that we had the previous year where our storage levels were being depleted rather quickly because of the prolonged cold weather, necessitating us to go out into the daily market.

And it had significant impacts on the cost of the natural gas, especially at Dawn -- for us, anyways -- and we were able to mitigate a lot of that last year as a result of incorporating that change in the design criteria that we used as far as managing the storage.

MR. QUINN:  And I heard you express something -- and you can comment on this, if you feel comfortable.  But it lowered your gas costs as a company, and that's a matter of evidence in the 2015 rates; there was some evidence in there.

But because the quantity of gas that Enbridge does purchase at Dawn, and did purchase at Dawn in the day market the previous year, would you say that because Enbridge has bought ahead and you're not active in trading in the day market at Dawn, that that tends to lower the overall price at Dawn for others?

MR. WELBURN:  Obviously, we aren't the only people in there purchasing supplies at Dawn.  But I would have to think we are definitely one of the larger ones.

So as a result, the fact that we didn't have to go into the day market in the last winter season definitely would have had -- and I think it's pretty evident if you go back and look at the prices at Dawn for the two years.  They are significantly different, despite the fact that the weather conditions were quite similar.

MR. QUINN:  And the weather conditions in 2015 were actually slightly colder than the weather conditions in February of 2014.  Is that your understanding?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, it was.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, and one final comment in that area and that is would you say that now your policies, in terms of how you're looking ahead and buying gas in the forward month or for the rest of the year and your storage targets, would you say that's more aligned with what Union Gas has been doing over the last few years?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes.  The approach we took is very similar to the approach that Union's using, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just by extension, I wanted that to be on the record also.  Thank you.

I'm going to move just slightly different area and again, this is probably to you, Mr. Welburn.  But there has been a distinction and an acceptance by -- I think, Mr. Poch would say this is fair, an acceptance by Mr. Chernick that Dawn is a special market.  It differentiates itself from other markets that -- TETCO M-3 was in his evidence, and we had that discussion in the technical conference.

But from your perspective, Mr. Welburn, with what has occurred with Enbridge purchasing its gas closer to market, closer to Dawn, closer to your actual franchise market, you are seeing what I would suggest -- and I'm going to get you to confirm -- the impact ever transportation on the commodity price is reduced, in terms of your total overall landed cost of gas.  Would you say that's correct?

MR. WELBURN:  As a result of -- I guess you can call it the increased market access that's been made as result of the GTA project and the settlement agreement, we have been able to make some shifts in our transportation portfolio, one of which is to move away from as much of a reliance on purchases in Alberta at Empress.

So we are procuring more of our supply closer to the market, which has -- in the result, we were able to then subsequently contract transportation that has a less distance of haul.  And since distance of haul is one of the main contributors to the tolls that you pay, our transportation as costs will go down as a result.

I'm hoping I addressed your question there.

MR. QUINN:  Did you, and possibly I started you at Dawn, because that's the point I guess I was coming to.  But would you agree with me that this is a North American phenomenon, in terms of northeast North America has greater access to commodity closer to its market area?

MR. WELBURN:  Absolutely.  Prior to 2008, procuring significant amounts of supply in eastern Canada or the US northeast would have been a lot more challenging.

Since 2008, when the production of shale gas through fracking and horizontal directional drilling, those advancements certainly improved the cost effectiveness of extracting that natural gas from those reserves and, as a result, has really made a significant shift in the pricing structure of gas across North America, and has opened up a lot of other alternatives for us, as far as how we procure our natural gas supply.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And in that big picture ever North America, would you agree with me that historical pipe-flows have actually reversed themselves, and that has changed the market prices between major points in North America?

MR. WELBURN:  I would say definitely there's been a lot of change in North America-wide in regards to the infrastructure, the transportation infrastructure.

There are a lot of proposed projects looking to access gas in the Marcellus and Utica Basin.

And I guess one example, I think, that's in line with what you're talking about is the Rex pipeline, which was originally designed to ship gas from the Rockies to the mid-continent US.  And that's recently actually changed directions predominantly, I would assume, as result of the amount of supply that's available in the Marcellus and shale.

MR. QUINN:  And a more local example of that same effect would be at Niagara, where there was a traditional export point from Canada to US, and that has begun to turn around, and then being an import point.

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, it has.

MR. QUINN:  This is a technical question and I respect that had we not had Mr. Welburn here, I might have been unable to ask this.

But without a lot of effort, would Enbridge have a forecast for the basis differential at Dawn going forward?  I couldn't find anything on the record here, but I know you have access to other resources.

Do you have any other public publications that you can put on the record that would be a reference publication of the forecasts of the basis differential at Dawn?

MR. WELBURN:  I can certainly look into that for you.  I obviously don't have it here right now.  But as an undertaking, we can certainly look to do that.

MR. QUINN:  That's what I was looking for.  And to be clear, and so there is a definition for that on the record, the basis differential between Dawn and Henry Hub is what we're looking for, Henry Hub being the North American standard commodity point for NIMEX transactions.

Is that a sufficient definition, or, Mr. Welburn would you like to add to that?

MR. WELBURN:  No, I think that's sufficient.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE BASIS DIFFERENTIAL BETWEEN DAWN AND HENRY HUB


MR. QUINN:  I just wanted to make sure there was clarity on the basis I was asking for.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

You're comfortable with that, Mr. Welburn?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, I am.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I collaborated with Dr. Higgin, and he is going to go into an area that I think will be helpful also.  So with that, those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Dr. Higgin, how long do you think you'll be?

DR. HIGGIN:  About thirty minutes.

MS. LONG:   Okay.  Then we'll take our afternoon break, and be back at 3:25.

DR. HIGGIN:  The transcript corrections, do you want me to do them after the break, or now?

MS. LONG:  After the break, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:06 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin?
Preliminary Matters:


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  To start with, there are a couple of transcript corrections --


MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin, before do you that, are these material that -- do they have to do with this panel?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, they do not.

MS. LONG:  Are they controversial corrections --


DR. HIGGIN:  No, I just -- I think I just mumbled.

MS. LONG:  I just wonder if maybe you could send them in via e-mail.  Then we can --


DR. HIGGIN:  No, I had the conversation with ASAP, and they listened to the tapes, and they say they have to have a verbatim --


MS. LONG:  Are you --


DR. HIGGIN:  So I have to correct them on the record, according to ASAP.

MR. MILLAR:  ASAP is the court reporting service, so if --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  How many are there --


MR. MILLAR:  We'll look into this, but maybe he can do it now.

MS. LONG:  How many are there?

DR. HIGGIN:  There are three.  They will be very short.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:   So the first correction to the transcript, volume 5 -- and I have them written down if you want to look at them, a piece of paper, so just you can look at them.

Anybody else is interested -- I don't know why, but anyway -- there you are.  That's what they've -- so that is at page -- volume 5, 103, line 16, and whatever I mumbled should read 5010 million, and brackets, (CCM).

At line 114, line 8 should read 10119.

And at page 116, line 19 there is an undertaking there, and the reference was using EP, underlined, it was put down as ED, Environmental Defence.

And so I would request that be corrected.  And also the undertaking reference at the front of the transcript will need to be corrected.

Now, Madam Chair, I was told by Mr. Smith he may have one as well, so I hope it doesn't count off my time.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  You have a correction as well, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I'm afraid I do.  It's very brief, but to concentrate on tedium, I'll just do it now if I could.

So this is from Day 4, at page 108-109.  It was an exchange between Mr. Brett and Mr. Dent, on page 109, line 6.  The transcript reads that it was Mr. Bennett who responded to the question.  It should be Mr. Dent.  That's the extent of it.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

I take it nobody has issue with any of these corrections as proposed?  Then let's proceed.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I would like to now start with my first topic, which is the old chestnut, I'll call it, of claimed benefits of DSM on non-participants.  And if you could turn up page 12 of our compendium.  That's Exhibit K5.4, page 12.

Can we look at the table here.  And basically this deals with the evidence as it sits, L.GEC.1, page 18, table 3, as corrected August 12, two-15.  This is a table prepared by Mr. Neme for GEC with support from Mr. Chernick as noted by the footnotes below.

Now, as we go through these lines, today Enbridge has addressed line number 2, "price suppression effects", and also to a considerable extent avoided distribution system costs at line number 4.

So we're not going to go over that ground and plough that ground again, but I would like to go and look at line number 1, the avoided carbon costs, somewhat, and that also corresponds to footnote 39 of the table.  And basically, what I would like to do is start with the discussion briefly on Tuesday's presentation of Enbridge, that's in K5.1, and the estimate that was provided at page 19 of that presentation.

So if we could -- if you want to look at that presentation at page 19.  The -- I was wondering if it's going to come up on the screen.  Anyway, I will proceed, and while it's being -- so Enbridge produced the price for two-18 using $15.22 Canadian per tonne, t-o-n-n-e --


--- Reporter appeals.

DR. HIGGIN:  Correct, rather than the $20 U.S. long ton used by Mr. Chernick and Mr. Neme as per their footnote 39.  Sorry?  Yes, short ton, t-o-n.  Right. Okay.  Thank you.

So what I'm -- would like to do is to get Enbridge's reaction to not only that context there, but also to some of the data that was provided to us to support the number on line 1 of Mr. Neme's table.

So could we please turn up an interrogatory, which is Exhibit I.GEC.2.EP.12, D attachment.  And this is a spreadsheet.

Madam Chair, these are working papers that I requested from GEC, Mr. Chernick, and so on to support those numbers in that table.  And these are the working papers.

So when we get this table I just wanted to position the first table of that, the first tab number 1, tab number 1, and it's called greenhouse gas.

While that's coming up, I'll just introduce it.  It is providing the series -- the forecast for carbon costs, and this was from Synapse, forecasted May two-15, this year, and it is the mid-range forecast for the U.S. for page 39 of the Synapse report, and that's what's shown in this spreadsheet at tab 1.

Sorry, I didn't have it in my -- the compendium, because I was not able -- did not realize this was going to come up.

MS. LONG:  So are the witnesses clear what the reference is?  Do you need that repeated again?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I would appreciate that being repeated.  My apologies, Dr. Higgin.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  The reference is Exhibit I.GEC.2.EP.12(d), and it is an Excel spreadsheet.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm sorry, we're just trying to locate it.  I don't seem to be able to find it in my interrogatory response book.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.  Take your time.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Could it be M, or is it I?

DR. HIGGIN:  It could be, yes, I may have misspoken, as I do.

I have a copy on my file here.  Let me just look at it for you again.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think we found the reference. It is M.GEC.EP.12(d), and there is an Excel file attachment which I don't seem to have in my binder, so my apologies.  I don't know if we've got it over there.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think, Madam Chair, we can proceed with my questions without actually having the image in front of us, okay?  We could just try that?

MS. LONG:  Does the witness need the spreadsheet in order to answer your questions?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, I would think they could take an undertaking, which would then use that as a reference.  Maybe it's coming up now.  It's the attachment which is cited here as (d), and it is the attachment.  So it won't be -- it will not be in the PDF file.  It is an Excel file, which was separate.

MS. LONG:  Why don't we proceed this way.  Ms. Oliver-Glasford.  If, when you are asked the question, you feel you need more information in order to answer it, you let us know.  We'll proceed on that basis, Dr. Higgin.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, we'll do that.  So looking at table 3, we'll start there.  And basically, if you look at the footnote, which is footnote 39, I asked for the working paper to support that and what was provided to me was a series of carbon emission values for the US, going from 220 to 240.  So this series -- and it was from this source, which I will repeat again.

It's the Synapse March two-15 forecast of carbon dioxide prices on page 39 of that document, and Mr. Chernick selected the mid-range forecast.  There are three forecasts on that page.  They are the low, mid, and high, okay?

So what I would like you to do for us, if you could, is to consider that series and also put it into the context of your calculation, which was based on a trading price of 15.22, as you did for your calculation, and then perhaps provide us with comments regarding the impact of changes to the forecasts for carbon prices and how they would affect the benefit to, in this case, customers as per the proposition that Mr. Neme is putting forward.

If you want to look at his overall proposition, then it's on page 19 of our compendium.

So let's go and try to get an undertaking, if I could.  That would be to provide your comments on the avoided carbon cost analysis provided in L.GEC.1, table 3 of Mr. Neme's evidence, and in doing so put that into context of the Synapse report in the forecast, and into the context of your calculation in your Exhibit K5.1.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  If I might be able to respond, in hopes that we don't need to do an undertaking, I'll try and see if this would be sufficient.

 I think there would be significant swing in that number, depending on what the price is.  Certainly I can't forecast what that price might be.  I don't pretend to know what direction that might go, and the slide that was in my opening presentation was simply supposed to be an illustration recognizing that it could be higher or lower, depending on what sort of thing is in place.

I think the important thing to remember is that there is no carbon price in place at the moment.  And so, you know, I think it would be very difficult to understand what those impacts might be down the road.

DR. HIGGIN:  Still I would appreciate your comments.  It's like all of the other lines in that table of Mr. Neme's.  You've already spent time today commenting on two of those, and so I would like you to comment on the other one, the carbon price assumption.

That's what I'm asking you, as EGD, to do, please, giving you some context.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Okay, we will take that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.3:  ENBRIDGE to provide its comments on the avoided carbon cost analysis provided in L.GEC.1, table 3 of Mr. Neme's evidence, and in doing so put that into context of the Synapse report in the forecast, and into the context of enbridge's calculation in its Exhibit K5.1

DR. HIGGIN:  What I'd like to move onto now is to the other line, which is line 3 of Mr. Neme's table, reduce the purchase price of most expensive gas.

I don't have time to go into the detail here.  There's also a footnote 41 to the table that explains that.  So, can you give me an undertaking to provide comments on that analysis that underpins the reduction of cost of the most expensive gas?

To assist you in that, again the lost spreadsheet has the working paper for that footnote; footnote 41, is in the lost spreadsheet.

So what I'd like you to do is provide your comments on that calculation of the reduction in the most expensive source of gas, as Mr. Neme and Mr. Chernick have provided.  Are you okay with at least best efforts to do that?

MR. WELBURN:  I think we can have a look at doing that, although we did talk a little bit about that already today.  That is something that is already incorporated in our landed cost analysis that -- sorry, in the avoided cost analysis that we did for the upstream component.  And when you look at the evidence that GEC provided, I think they acknowledged that that is in there also.  It is inherent in the calculation that is we do.

DR. HIGGIN:  I don't want to go into a big debate, but there are three types of effect that are being talked about here.

This is the one that they talk about as related to the load, and the different loads.  So there are the three -- four load profiles and how that would affect the avoided price of gas supply.

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, and the way that's incorporated into our current analysis is that when we do our first SENDOUT run, which is our base load, that does not include any DSM demand reductions in it.

And so we run SENDOUT, which develops a gas supply plan and the associated costs with that.

We then reduce the demand that we would do in our second run for one of the four load profiles that were provided, and when we run that SENDOUT, we will then try to optimize the cost, and the way that it will optimize the cost is that it is going to eliminate more expensive supply first.

So because it is doing that, which is -- which is exactly, I believe, what this concept is that we're talking about, that impact is actually incorporated in the calculation itself, just based on the nature of how SENDOUT does its cost optimization.

DR. HIGGIN:  I accept that, and footnote 41 and the spreadsheet and the working paper provides an estimate of that effect, and that's what I'm asking you to comment on.

It would be very -- unfortunately, we can't see that.  I have a copy here and I can pass it to the witness of that spreadsheet, but that's not going to help the record at all.

It's on now.  Got it.  So now where we would like to go, to the tab "marginal versus average".  There we are.  Thank you.

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, just to be clear, because I'm still just not totally certain exactly what the expectation is, the analysis that we did, that was because it's inherent in the calculation itself.  It is not broken out as a separate reduction, and I'm not sure even if I could break it out as a separate reduction.  That would definitely require some thought.  So to try and do that as a comparison to the theoretical calculations that were provided, I'm not certain if we would even be able to do that.

DR. HIGGIN:  So my problem is that we have an estimate from Mr. Chernick of this effect, and basically I thought it would be reasonable to ask the company to comment on that as they may to see whether they think order of magnitude it's in the right ballpark, it's not, et cetera.  That's all I'm really asking for, is comment.

MR. WELBURN:  Well, we can certainly have a look at trying to do that for you.  Yeah.  We'll certainly have a look at it and see what kind of a helpful response we can give --


MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin, what are you asking for exactly?  Are you asking for the witness to comment, yes, we agree, no, we don't agree, yes, it's in the ballpark?  I mean, when you make comment --


DR. HIGGIN:  I couldn't --


MS. LONG:  -- I'm not sure what you're wanting witness --


DR. HIGGIN:  -- speak for the witness --


MS. LONG:  -- to do.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- I'm asking them to take a look at this and to provide whatever comments they may have about the differential, which is the first line, differential between the avoided cost and average commodity cost for the three load shapes that are listed here, and if they have a comment.  If their comment is, oh, it's already included in SENDOUT and we take it into account, that's fine.  I'd just like them to help me understand this aspect.

MS. LONG:  I think that's what the witness just said.  I believe, Mr. Welburn, you said it was taken into account.

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, it is.

MS. LONG:  So are you looking for something beyond that?

DR. HIGGIN:  I'm looking to see whether the -- or if they have a comment on the order of magnitude.

MS. LONG:  Well, I don't know that the witness can provide that, but I guess best efforts, you can take that away and consider it.

MR. WELBURN:  We can certainly try and have a look at that and see if there's something we can do.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.4:  ENBRIDGE TO COMMENT ON THE ORDER OF MAGNITUDE RE:  THE DIFFERENTIAL BETWEEN THE AVOIDED COST AND AVERAGE COMMODITY COST FOR THE THREE LOAD SHAPES THAT ARE LISTED.

MR. POCH:  I think if I can just be of assistance, I think we've established, Mr. Welburn and I, that there is no difference in the question between Mr. Chernick and Mr. Welburn.  It is in the avoided cost.  That's not in dispute.  Mr. Chernick just took their numbers and said -- tried to figure out what's it worth for rates.

That's where, of course, we get into more of a dispute.  I just wanted to give that context if assists my friend at all.

DR. HIGGIN:  So is my friend saying that they're withdrawing that piece of the evidence?

MR. POCH:  Well, no, no, I'm suggesting that -- I don't think that -- thus far I've not heard anything that suggests that Enbridge has a problem with the numbers; it is just the implication that's the issue.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think perhaps this is best dealt with by having Mr. Welburn respond, and we'll make best efforts in that regard, so --


MS. LONG:  That's fine.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  As you know, Madam Chair, all of my things are always so easy.

Now, I'd like to go to the achievable potential study, and perhaps to position ourselves, could we look at my compendium and look at page 32 of the compendium, please.  Thank you.  This is -- to position it, as it says at the very top, this is an extract from the Navigant report, C, tab 1, schedule 1, Navigant natural gas energy potential study, table 5-19.

So what I'd like you to do, Mr. Welch, briefly is just summarize what this table shows, and in particular, the columns that I would be most interested in would be the budget and the savings column, and if you'd explain basically what this table shows, and put any caveats or other things that need to be associated with this table.

MR. WELCH:  Certainly, Mr. Higgin.  I would be happy to do so.  Can you folks hear me with this microphone?  Okay.  It sounds like you probably can.

In our analysis we -- any potential study really has to start with some kind of assumption regarding spending levels.  Sometimes that assumption fixes a budget level; sometimes it fixes incentive assumptions and so forth.

In our case, we started -- had to start somewhere with a base case of an assumed $35 million per year spend for ten years, because that was the duration of our study.

So just for example, if you look in the first column for budget, you will see a number that says 350.  That is the cumulative spend on the budget over a ten-year period, so that is an important distinction, because it says, you know, cumulative -- it's always -- can always be confusing.  You have to be careful when you're talking about cumulative versus annual.  So that is a cumulative budget over a ten-year period through 2024, as noted in the title.

Likewise, it is important to make sure we get the units correct on the savings.  As you and I discussed, Mr. Higgin, it can be very confusing again if we are talking CCM versus first year or in annual metres cubed per year.  So this second column, it is important to note that the units of that column are in million metres cubed per year, and that is a first-year savings number.

So what we have simply done is we have taken the first-year savings in each year over the ten-year course of the study and added those up.

Okay, so that is just units-wise, just to make sure that we are clear there.  That is not a CCM number.  That is ten years of accumulated first-year savings.

The third column, to make sure that we understand that before we move on to the scenarios and how we did those, that indicates that over, again, a ten-year period of achievable savings we could have reduced on a cumulative first-year basis consumption by 7.8 percent of the baseline forecast sales in 2024, so you can also look at that as, well, an average value of 0.78 percent or roughly round to 0.8 percent per year savings as a percentage of gas sales on average.


So that should help you understand at least the units of the first three columns, which I think is very important to you.

DR. HIGGIN:  So can you just tell us what caveats there are, such as gross versus net --


MR. WELCH:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- and can you give us which programs are involved, for example, only resource allocation or the programs that produce CCMs?  Can you give us those caveats?

MR. WELCH:  First, that's a very good point.  It is very important to note, and we do state this in the study, that all of the numbers that we report in the study are gross savings estimates, so in other words, we have not factored in free riders into that number, so 0.78 percent per year on average or 7.8 percent over ten years, that is a gross savings estimate, not a net savings estimate, is the answer to your first question.

I'm sorry, could you repeat the second part of your question?

DR. HIGGIN:  The second question was which programs are used to contribute to these savings.


MR. WELCH:  These are only what we would term "resource programs", so no general marketing or awareness type of programs that could result in savings.  I would call them resource programs, with a caveat, and the caveat -- and thank you, maybe you picked up on this -- is that we do have measures that I'll call them more generically that are, in fact, behavioural type measures.  In other words, they don't necessarily require the purchase of a piece of equipment, but they are very, very specific to a particular type of, you know, deployment of a program as opposed to a very, very broad marketing or education campaign that might result in savings.


So the examples would be, for instance, the operational improvements measure, as essentially modelled or based on Enbridge's  Run It Right type program and so forth, and then there is a residential behavioural measure as well.

So that is the caveat to resource acquisition type programs.

DR. HIGGIN:  So just to summarize positioning this, these totals would be very close, but not exact -- because you just said why -- to the resource acquisition totals in the plan.  They would be close; maybe it would be 90 to 95 percent of those would be the total.

MR. WELCH:  Considering that our -- or at least my team's scope of work was limited to the potential study and did not extend to development of program planning, plans and the values within those program plans.  I am not able to answer that question, or speak to the veracity of that statement.  I would have to defer to somebody from Enbridge.

DR. HIGGIN:  We're going to just explore that in a minute.

Now, my next question is the timeframe of the study, and your timeframe was two-15 to two-24 rather than the plan, which is two-15 to two-20. That was something that concerned us when we were trying to compare the two.

And the other aspect is that when we looked at the scenarios, all these scenarios, we tried to understand how that would fit with the plan, and how did the plan -- did it correspond to C, D and E?

We actually got an answer that said it corresponded, for different sectors, to three of the scenarios.

MR. WELCH:  That is correct and the reason for that, and we do have a lengthy response -- I may be able to drum that up, but let me speak in generic terms and if you'd like more detail, perhaps we can pull out that specific response.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think we'll go to the shorter one, because I think I'm going to go there in the next -- okay.

MR. WELCH:  The short answer is a potential study and a program plan are two very different things.  One cannot make what I would call truly direct comparisons of the output of our potential study and the output of our program plan.

And the reason I say that is that program planning requires a good bit more detail.  You have to consider things like delivery mechanism, and marketing, and specific incentive levels by program that could differ from what we have in our potential study.

So they aren't the same thing, so one always has to be careful in comparing our potential study results with the output of a program.

That said, what we attempted to do to provide intervenors with an indication of what we thought the potential was for the levels of spending in the program plan, just the levels of spending.  What we did is we tried to -- or we endeavoured to run our potential model at those planned levels of spending, and see what our potential model would suggest is the potential for savings at that level of spending.

Now, there are many ways that you can do that.  Rather than just say the total spending is exactly the same as the program plan, we went one step further and said, well, let's look at spending by sector, okay.  It is not the same as spending by program, but we at least have spending by sector.

We calibrated our model, if you will, by adjusting incentive levels in our model to result in the spending at the sector level that was consistent with the program plans to see what happened at the tail end of our model with savings estimates.

I believe in our response we also indicated again the need to be careful with that.  There are differences because, for instance, the most obvious difference would be our potential study model uses a calculation, if you will, a formulaic way of determining incentive levels at the measure level which, if you're interested in more detail there, there is a paper that I can refer you to that describes in detail how we did that  But that will differ inevitably from exactly how Enbridge designed their programs because they apply what I might call an additional level of judgment and insight in the program design and planning process than frankly is really possible in a higher level indicative potential study.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Well, as you know, we asked quite a few interrogatories about that comparison, and perhaps we can summarize it by looking at one of the key responses, which is JT1.36, question 7 (c), and that's on our compendium page 35.  So do you have that?

MR. WELBURN:  I do, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  First of all, you assisted with this.  I assume some of the other data was from Enbridge, but you were involved in assisting Enbridge in producing this response; am I correct?  Otherwise I'll ask my questions to Enbridge.

MR. WELCH:  I would actually suggest you direct your questions to Enbridge, because Enbridge, as I understand it, used the output of our analysis to compile and compare.

But, for instance, I have not seen this table or was not involved in putting together values in it -- unless I am mistaken.  There may be numbers that are in this table that come directly from analysis that I have done, but that is not necessarily to say that I was involved in creating this table.

Is that a fair statement, Ms. Oliver-Glasford?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  I hope you might take ownership of the DSM SIM columns.

MR. WELCH:  I could take ownership to the extent that I was given the time to compare each of those columns at each year with the values in our study.

I have not had the time or opportunity to do that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just take it that we believe they are consistent with another interrogatory, which we didn't have time to go into.

But anyway, subject to you checking those numbers, what I would like to do is look at the caveat that's stated at the question, and to do that we need to go to actually 7(c), and see what happens there.  So it's JT136, question 7(c).

MR. WELCH:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  And part (a) --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, Dr. Higgin, do you need us to see another part of this?

DR. HIGGIN:  Just what was your response to that particular undertaking, and what is the caveat that you are given us with respect to context.

MS. LONG:  So is the question in the compendium?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, it isn't.  It is in 7(c), 1.36, question 7, part (c).

Perhaps we'll focus about the budgets.  Let's just look at the context.  Maybe -- is there anything on the next page or not?  Yes.

Look at the last point and that's a very key caveat looking this table.   Net cumulative cubic metres where the outputs of the DSM SIM, Navigant's report are gross, and you've made assumptions on net to gross in order to get the comparison in this table.  Am I correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So then that's a key caveat and, as you know, there is a bit of difficulty in net to gross.  You are having a big study on it.

But nonetheless, given that assumption, if we compare then the plan, and these are annual cubic metres versus the simulated achievable potential, what do we see?  What does this table tell us, Ms. Glasford?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  This table tells us, if you might point you to the last line of the table that talks about the total gross m-cubeds per dollar spent, I think it's the most relevant given all of the differences between how the potential study was done, i.e. and gross numbers and first year annual m-cubeds versus CCM, or net numbers.

So that really is the most indicative line to show how close our plan is to what the achievable potential determined for us.  And you can see that in that line, we are virtually in line with what that potential study says for 2016, and in the, you know, farthest stretch out in 2020 we are still under 10 percent of what that -- what our -- you know, the DSM SIM and the DSM plan are within 10 percent of one another.

DR. HIGGIN:  Also if we look at the line gross annual m-cubed near the top of the table, if we compare that for example, starting in two-16 it shows lower expected from the plan of approximately 20 million annual m-cubed lower or the SIM plan is 20 million, approximately, higher; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct, and there's a number of things, obviously, as Mr. Welch has outlined.  Potential studies are illustrative in nature, directional in nature, so obviously there is a band of certainty there.

But also I would say the plan does many more things than just drive DSM.  It drives a number of priorities and principles that we have identified from the framework, and in doing so, if I can just call it the commercial-industrial, for example, we have put in the additional metric of a small commercial-industrial area, and so that would -- that would cost more money, essentially, to achieve the same output, and so you see a little bit of a difference there driven likely by some of those priorities that we are chasing, as well as some of the portfolio decisions that we have made.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  What I'd like to ask from you is, just as a final thing, is to compare for the plan, and that is for the two-16 to two-20, as per this table, these values:  The DSM plan total gross and net, that's two lines; the DSM SIM plan total, and that's the CCM estimate; and reconcile that to your evidence, which is a target of 6-3-5-5 million, RA programs, also at 5-0-0-8 million, and adjust for two-15, because two-15 isn't in this table, of course.

I would like if you could do that.  It would certainly help us to be able to look at the plan and the achievable potential.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm going to have to ask Mr. Welch whether that's possible to do through the SIM model.

MR. WELCH:  It's possible.  Probably the biggest issue is in our report, for reasons we outline in our report, we did focus -- although we did calculate CCM, we did focus on annual metres-cubed, which was the output for many of our sensitivity analyzes and so forth.  We elaborate on the rationale for that.

So while CCM is an output of our model, it is not an output that we have calculated for all of the scenarios that we have provided in our model.  And it is not necessarily an output that we have currently calculated for the, quote, DSM plan run of the DSM SIM model.  So while it is a possible outcome, it would require a fair bit of additional time and effort to make that comparison on a CCM basis.

Does that answer your question, Ms. Oliver-Glasford?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So considerable time and just -- we're -- sort of costs up and above what we currently have Navigant under to do, so those would be on an -- I just want to make sure we're -- because I just -- as I said, I'm -- want to be helpful, I just -- I'm not sure that they're going to show us anything significantly different.


And I think the nut of this is really that we have a portfolio that doesn't just drive to lowest-cost CCM, so you will still see a difference between our plan and what the DSM simulator does simply because of the fact that we have balanced these many, you know, priorities and put in some of these additional metrics, such as small commercial-industrial in order to meet the framework requirements and what we see from the marketplace.

DR. HIGGIN:  Madam Chair, I believe that it is a very large policy question, and that is:  Is what the company has put forward as its plan, how does that compare to the achievable potential study that it produced and used as one of the major inputs to development of the plan?  I think it's a reasonable thing, given that we are updating, apparently, the achievable potential study to undertake on a best-efforts basis to try and provide that.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Oliver-Glasgow (sic), can I ask you a question?  I am just reviewing the transcript.  I have the advantage of it.  Just earlier I think you said:

"This table tells us, if I might point you to the last line of the table that talks about the total gross m-cubeds per dollar spent, I think it's the most relevant, given all of the differences between how the potential study was done."

Perhaps you could just -- so this is your comment on how you are reading the table and what this table is telling us right now.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  Without rerunning it.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  So you've adjusted for the net to gross.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  You've adjusted for the CCM.  This last line we are here --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- if I compare, like, in two-16, the 2.44 is 2.44.  In two-17, it is 2.28 to 2.44.  Am I -- is this the right comparison, the --?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  You're exactly correct.  We tried to put it apples to apples for that exact comparison, and that is why I drew the attention to the Board Panel, as well as other stakeholders, to that last line.

MS. DUFF:  And your conclusion is that your study, in comparison to the potential study, the backdrop that that is providing you as a leading document which provides you with information, which you go ahead and plan programs; perhaps you could just elaborate a little bit more on that in words.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sure.  Certainly.  Thank you for that opportunity.  The potential study was seen as one of the inputs to our planning, and really was used to gather information and to give a sense directionally that our targets and our planning was appropriately lined up, if you will.  It wasn't out to lunch, in terms of far too high, far too low.  And what we see here from our potential study as an output is a plan which we put forth which is well in line with what the potential said -- or the potential study said was achievable in the Ontario market for Enbridge.

MS. LONG:  I think, based on that evidence, we are satisfied with the evidence provided, and Dr. Higgin, we are not going to require Enbridge to rerun the model and re-engage Navigant for further work on this subject.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  The Panel has a few questions for you.


Questions by the Board:


MS. FRANK:  I just have one question.  We heard a lot about the detailed elements of your model and the assumptions that were made and all the background information, and certainly we have heard from a couple of parties that they would have liked to have seen this information, and I know that you had many opportunities provided and didn't, so I believe there is some rationale as to why you think it's inappropriate to provide it.

And I just want to understand what the rationale was as to why you thought it was inappropriate to provide it.  What harm does it do?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Are you referring to the SENDOUT model?

MS. FRANK:  And the assumptions that are used in that, all the judgments that are used.

MR. WELBURN:  We did make an attempt to provide a level of detail that is consistent with what we've been providing in the past in relation to inputs for SENDOUT.  To the extent that additional detail is required, I think what would be helpful is if we knew specifically what information that would be requesting a total data dump of what is in SENDOUT, I think Union referenced something like 42,000 lines of data, and they do that on a monthly basis.  We actually analyze on a daily basis, so that would make it even larger.

And there is also the fact that SENDOUT results in a database, if you will, with a lot of nomenclature in there and variables, which are hard to understand what they mean unless you are an analyst that was familiar with that terminology, so simply asking for a dump of data, I don't think would be very beneficial, because it would be rather difficult to interpret all that information.

If there were some specifics that were being requested, I'm sure we could then try to write some reports to extract that information.  But we just -- so far the requests that we've had have been very open-ended, and so it's required to us make some interpretation as to what level, and different individuals will want different levels of data.

For example, there were some sample report outputs that came as part of GEC's evidence, as far as what could be provided, and I certainly don't disagree that there is the reporting capability to provide that.  But even those reports were -- I believe they were providing annual information, which I don't think, depending on what you were trying to do, would be overly helpful.

So, to the extent that the information is there and available, certainly.  But I think what would be helpful for us is if we had a little bit more clarity on what specific level of detail is being requested rather than an open-ended give-us-everything.  We want to make sure that whatever we provide is helpful.

MS. FRANK:  So am I understanding that if -- I'm looking to the future, not this.  But if there was some suggestion that we direct you in the future to behave in a certain way, before we do that I want to understand what's possible.

So if the idea was to have a discussion among experts to understand -- and I really think it was some of the assumptions that went into the model rather than the output.  So what did you tell the SENDOUT model in terms of its approach to analysis.

And if there was a suggestion that we direct you to work with a working group to review those, is there a problem with those?  Is there some reason why that is harmful to you as a company?

MR. WELBURN:  I don't think it would be harmful, except for when we get into input variables that are related to contracts specific to what we have with third parties.

There may be some proprietary information there that we may have to be a little bit more careful about providing, or look at how we provide that information.

But the information is there.

MS. FRANK:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Welburn, I just have a follow-up question on that.

What is the harm -- and maybe I'm missing something, but what is the harm in giving Mr. Poch's expert a dump of information, everything that they want and his expert determining whether he's got what he needs, him having the onus to figure out the information?


Is the concern that he's going to come back to you a hundred times and say I don't understand what this means, I don't know what this means?  I mean, it sounds to me that you're making the decision as to what would or would not be useful to the expert.  I'm afraid I don't understand that.

MR. WELBURN:  Okay.  Well, to the extent that there is some information that's related to specific contracts that we have with other parties, we would have to be a little more careful about how that is provided.

MS. LONG:  I understand the propriety, the confidentiality concern, but beyond that?

MR. WELBURN:  We can certainly -- I can certainly take that back to see if extracting something like that -- it is not something we've done, a whole extraction of data hasn't been done before.  But we can certainly look at doing that.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I have a question, Mr. Welch.  You were talking to Dr. Higgin regarding -- I think it was how the potential study looks at resource programs as opposed to any broad-based educational or marketing campaign.

Now in your study on page 15, you talk about -- well, you can pull it up -- but you talk about you've added a marketing effectiveness parameter.  So you're increasing incentives, and that's one way to increase savings.  But when you did your study, you took two factors into consideration, also marketing effectiveness.

Could you talk to me a little bit about how you came up with that parameter?  I mean, the base case was one year.

MR. WELCH:  Certainly, and I try to keep this at an appropriate level and not get down into too many details.

At the highest level, we use a technology adoption approach that has a couple of what I'll call technology diffusion coefficients or parameters.

It is an enhanced version of what I'll call a vast diffusion model.  It has two key parameters to it, and one of them is this marketing effectiveness parameter.  And we determine appropriate parameters for that parameter which is help drive adoption and a profile of adoption, how quickly you can get realistically get savings in the market through a couple of mechanisms.

One, there is a body of literature out there where there have been studies conducted that estimate and analyze that very specific parameter for dozens and dozens of technologies.

We tend to use what I might call middle of the road values for that parameter based on those studies.  And we further calibrate our model in general, the vast diffusion model, with some additional parameters such as addition -- initial assumed familiarity, if you will.

MS. DUFF:  For fear that Mr. O'Leary criticizes me for cutting you off, one thing I would like to ask is --


MR. O'LEARY:  I won't do that.

MS. DUFF:  -- why do you add an efficiency?  Marketing effectiveness, I think is what you call it.  So you assume that, and why do you add it in?

MR. WELCH:  It is --


MS. DUFF:  Is it a stretch factor?

MR. WELCH:  It is fundamental to the algorithm for technology adoption that is this vast diffusion model.  There are two key parameters.  Actually, if you look in the literature for vast diffusion, they wouldn't even call it a marketing effectiveness parameter; they would call it a P coefficient and Q coefficient.  But to the lay person, that doesn't have a lot of meaning.  And so we have put more descriptive language, if you will, on those coefficients in order to help people understand how our technology adoption model works.

So it's really -- it's fundamental to our analysis of product diffusion into the marketplace, which helps you understand how quickly you can likely harvest savings.

MS. DUFF:  Is it because the experience with the company promoting DSM, they are targeting better?  Their marketing is more effective?

I know that you are just using a P and a Q coefficient, but isn't there some other factor, simply in addition to incentives being spent that are going to make the programs more effective?  Is that what you are trying to capture in your model?

MR. WELCH:  Yes, actually to an extent.

MS. DUFF:  How big is that?

MR. WELCH:  How big is what?

MS. DUFF:  Is it a small portion?  Is it 50-50?  How important is that?

MR. WELCH:  It is an interesting question that unfortunately doesn't have a very short answer, and the reason is the magnitude of that relative to other influences changes over time, depending where you are on the adoption curve, if you will.  Initially marketing effectiveness when you get a program going is very important and over time, once you've begun to saturate the market, it becomes less important.

That said, if I can try to more directly answer your question, in our scenario analysis we did adjust both incentive levels and this marketing effectiveness parameter, which is perhaps something that you have caught on to.

I would say that the largest driver of our changes in assumed participation, and ultimately the savings that you can achieve over time, is by far the incentive level. And we did allow for some adjustment and tweaks, if you will, to the marketing effectiveness in those scenarios to really account for the fact that if you are really trying to aggressively, very aggressively go after DSM, you probably will be marketing more heavily and trying to inform and educate more heavily.  So that is why we adjusted both.  But by far, the largest influence on the scenarios for potential -- achievable potential is the incentive level, not the changes that we made to the marketing effectiveness parameter, if that answers your question?

MS. DUFF:  That is helpful.  And the base case that you look at, in which you take 35 million a year times 10, and versus the program which Enbridge has proposed til 2020, did you go back to your -- I guess you have A to L.  Did you back to see where that fits within your potential study, what they've actually proposed?

So they've come up with a program for 2015 to 2020.  Yours goes to 2014, so I guess you'd have to make an assumption for those last four years.  But did you do that kind of analysis?

MR. WELCH:  I would say that we did it, I might say, the other way around.  We ran scenarios at the sector level, as I was describing to Mr. Higgin, that calibrated our model's budgets, calculated budget to Enbridge's DSM plans, and that is how we came up with achievable potential values that we felt most closely, although with all the caveats I've previously described, aligned with their plans.  And then Enbridge further took those numbers and did some comparisons with their actual plan numbers.  I was not involved in inspecting their plan numbers and doing that comparison;  I just provided the output that is most directly comparable with their plan.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  Thank you for explaining that last piece.  That was important.  Thank you.

MR. WELCH:  Okay.  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Those are the Panel's questions.  Mr. O'Leary, any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  I just have a couple of questions.  The first arises -- and I believe this is to Ms. Thompson -- in -- as a result of your discussion with Mr. Brett for BOMA, and there was some discussion about metering, and I thought I heard that you indicate at one point that there was some limitation in the fact that at least for residential customers you are only receiving the load data on a monthly basis because that's the limitation of the existing meters?

MS. THOMPSON:  That's correct, for the vast majority of the meters it takes monthly readings.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And just to pick up on that, you're --


MS. THOMPSON:  Excuse me, bimonthly.  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Bimonthly.  Even worse.

You are aware, of course, that the various electric utilities in the province have installed smart meters on all the residential houses in most of the province?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  And I'd just ask you if you can comment on whether or not some sort of a smart metering device on your residential ratepayers' homes would be of any assistance to you in terms of proceeding with the IRP study and understanding the geo-targeted direction of infrastructure deferrals?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. THOMPSON:  Yes, I think that is certainly something that we are going to put top of mind in our study.  We've got that outlined in our IRP study scope, but I think hypothetically at this point we believe it would, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Right.  And my request for comment would just go to, do you have any sort of an estimate of the number of homes in your franchises that would require the smart meters and any estimate of the cost to install those smart meters?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We have around 2 million customers, so -- roughly 2 million customers if we were to round it, if a good majority of the meters are still read bimonthly.  I don't have any cost assessments on meters.

MR. O'LEARY:  But it would be fair to offer a comment that it would be a significant capital expenditure?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I believe it would be upwards of $5,000 each.

MR. O'LEARY:  And just one other question then.  It relates to some of the questions by Mr. Poch, again to you, Ms. Thompson.  It related to what he's described as the error in respect of area A, and your evidence-in-chief, and I'm trying to understand the nature of this error, and does the error relate to some misinterpretation of the amount of load that related to the pipelines in question there?  Or was it related to some omission in terms of transferring the known information to the tables that were ultimately used by Navigant to prepare its study?

MS. THOMPSON:  It was an omission of transferring projects over to the summary table as provided to Navigant.  There aren't any errors in the project list that we had provided to Navigant; it was simply transferring over.

The group that does the system analysis for the group that I work with goes to great lengths on an annual basis to ensure that they gather the appropriate loads, to ensure that they run simulations and compare it to actuals in the field to the extent possible, to ensure that the models are reasonably accurate, and then from there go on to forecasting on an annual basis and as required do longer forecasts.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Madam Chair, those are my redirect.

MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.

Panel, you are excused with our thanks.

Mr. O'Leary, your next panel, panel 2, do you have any chief that you are going to lead them through?

MR. O'LEARY:  There is a possibility I might have one question, but even that, if I speak to them in the short break that's required, may evaporate --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well --


MR. O'LEARY:  They are available if you'd like to --


MS. LONG:  We'd like to sit for a little bit longer, so if you could get your next panel up, that would be great.

MR. O'LEARY:  Do you want a short recess, or --


MS. LONG:  No, we'll just sit here.  That's fine.  Mr. Poch, do you have a time estimate?

MR. POCH:  I think I'm about ten minutes, no more than 15.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  I'd be happy to proceed.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Quinn, you are going to be about five minutes, I understand?

MR. QUINN:  Five, seven minutes tops.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Mr. O'Leary, just before we affirm the witnesses, if you could introduce each one of them, that would be helpful for us.

MR. O'LEARY:  That was my intention, and again, starting on the left-hand side we have Mr. Steve McGill.  To his left is Ms. Shannon Bertuzzi.  In the middle, Mr. Michael Lister, who you've heard from earlier.  To his left is Ms. Erika Lontoc, and to her left, of course, is Mr. Jamie Paris.

And perhaps before you are sworn in, perhaps you could also identify your position with Enbridge for the purposes of the panel?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I'm Steve McGill, and I'm senior manager, sustainable growth and market development strategy.

MS. BERTUZZI:  Hi, I'm Shannon Bertuzzi.  I'm the manager of residential energy solutions.

MR. LISTER:  I'm Michael Lister, senior manager, energy solutions.

MS. LONTOC:  And I'm Erika Lontoc, manager for low-income and commercial programs.

MR. PARIS:  Jamie Paris, manager of commercial and industrial marketing.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Frank, if you wouldn't mind, there's three members that are new and require being sworn in.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 2, PROGRAMS:  RESIDENTIAL, LOW INCOME AND NEW CONSTRUCTION


Michael Lister, Affirmed


Jamie Paris; Previously Affirmed.


Shannon Bertuzzi, Affirmed


Erika Lontoc, Affirmed


Steve McGill; Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  It as turns out, do you have one question, and it really flows from a question asked of a previous panel by Member Duff and it relates to the OPower.  I believe Ms. Duff identified the amount that's contemplated for the program going forward and inquired as to whether or not, given the amount, there is sufficient testing of the program or understanding of the program.  I believe Mr. Lister would like to try and respond to that question, if we can.

MR. LISTER:  Yeah, I was just going to -- thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  I was just going to offer that based on Member Duff's interest in it, we contacted OPower and they provided us with an index or a bibliography, if you will, of independent districts and independent evaluations that have tested, measured, and verified various -- the exact same program used in other jurisdictions.  So we just wanted to highlight that, in fact, it is a very well-tested program.  So if that is of interest we thought we might offer it to provide it by way of undertaking.

MS. DUFF:  Sure I'd like to see that.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.5:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE A BIBLIOGRAPHY RELATED TO THE PROGRAM


MR. O'LEARY:  With that extensive examination-in-chief, THIS panel is now open for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair and welcome Enbridge panel.  I'm going to try to be brief and with Ms. Chaisson's help, if you could turn up Staff 17.  I thinks that the one reference that will be helpful for the purpose of this dialogue.

As you know, I'm Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the federation of rental housing providers of Ontario and I think my questions are going to be to Ms. Lontoc who I've had the benefit of working with this in low-income area over time.

If you could scroll down to the response that is covered in -- yes, in the second page in part (c), Ms. Lontoc, I wanted to clarify for the purposes of the record, you had contributed to this response, but in part (c) you talked about:

"The Federation of Rental-housing Providers in Ontario, a key stakeholder in the development and advancement of this offer, has been engaged to support this position with their membership."
Now, this position is specifically that:

"As part of the application and condition for the program participation by private owners, Enbridge requires a building owner to a acknowledge and agree through a program letter that they will not use these improvements and upgrades to incentivize an upgrade or increase."


Now this is specific to above-guideline increase; is that your understanding?


MS. LONTOC:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So, in terms of what FRPO -- what any private housing provider is offering to do, and that is to ensure that whatever program is put in place through Enbridge's offer, that will not contribute to any kind of above-guideline increase relative to capital improvements that are done for the low-income tenants?


MS. LONTOC:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  I wanted to -- when I read, it I knew the context, but I wanted to make sure it was clear for other readers of that.

Now, I wanted to go a step further in terms of your work with FRPO, and specifically I -- maybe could have asked this question for the purposes of the record earlier, but can you provide just at just a very high-level your understanding of the certified rental building program and how that aligns with Enbridge's efforts in meeting the interest of low-income tenants.

MS. LONTOC:  The certified rentals binding program is a program of FRPO which is offered to its membership.

Part of the certified rental program -- well, the certified rental program provides several modules.

One of the modules or two of the modules under the certified rental program covers environmental and sustainability concerns for its members for those attending the program.

Enbridge has been participating in the development of the environmental -- environmental module and we've been providing guidance in terms of best practices and on programs that building owners can avail of for them to be able to meet their environmental and energy efficiency objectives.

MR. QUINN:  So those energy efficiency objectives also include tenant engagement and understanding of -- for the low-income buildings as to practices that would contribute to energy efficiency?

MS. LONTOC:  That's correct.  We have been providing information in terms of technical energy efficiency measures that building owners can undertake to improve the energy efficiency of their buildings, but side by side with that is us promoting that the build -- part of the building, as a system, would be the tenants.  So resident engagement is one of the tenets of the support that we have been providing FRPO in the development of the environmental module.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  And just in the broader scheme of the offers you are making you also have other key stakeholders who you are working with besides FRPO.  Could you outline for the Board the other stakeholders have been working with you in the projects you've been doing in Toronto?


MS. LONTOC:  Apart from FRPO, we have been working very closely with the city of Toronto.

Right now our private low-income buildings program is focused just on the city of Toronto.  Of course it is the intention of the program to expand it beyond the city and across our franchise, but the tower renewal office of the city of Toronto has been a very strong partner in the development of the program.

We also are working with the United Way of Toronto.  They continue to work with us in terms of identifying and supporting communities in need.  And to some extent we are also exchanging information with Toronto Hydro.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are the questions in that area.  I was not prepared -- I had actually considered asking about the Home Health record.  I was very encouraged that the Panel asked about that yesterday, and we were going to get some information.  Obviously we will need to digest the undertaking, Mr. Lister, that you are providing.

Can I take it that these references are going to speak to the efficacy of the program, and evidence of material changes in behaviour have led to sustainable energy savings?

MR. LISTER:  I believe so.  There are, just to give you a sense, 50 different evaluations that are provided here in this index or bibliography.

I'm not sure if you were there, Mr. Quinn, but we have talked about in our evidence, we did some stakeholdering back in the fall a year ago on this program.  Another item that I could produce that may be helpful in that effort or your question area would be the presentation that was provided at that stakeholder meeting, which describes the  -- how behaviours change and how the program works to change behaviours.

MR. QUINN:  And is it evidence, Mr. Lister?  I guess that's my fundamental question.

MR. LISTER:  I'm sorry, the question was: Is it evidence?

MR. QUINN:  Is there data or something that would support, as opposed to the theory?  Is there data that supports a discernible change?

MR. LISTER:  We also produced a -- as part of an interrogatory response, I believe, it was a report produced by a group named CADMUS, and I failed to remember what that stands for.

MR. QUINN:  I'd be happy to take that, Mr. Lister, as an undertaking, just point to the reference or bring it back through the record and I can pick it up later, but I want to respect that I only asked for 5 or 7 minutes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Madam Chair, I can point to the CADMUS report.  It is in our compendium.

MR. QUINN:  I can seek Dr. Higgin's compendium and be satisfied.  I'm just looking to --


DR. HIGGIN:  It is on page 25. I have at least the conclusions and the recommendations.  Page 25.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  I can review that outside of this hearing room.

MR. LISTER:  The report in its entirety is provided in the body of the interrogatory responses.  I can find the correct reference.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Lister.  I was just speaking --


DR. HIGGIN:  It is EP.22, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, EGDI.EP.22, attachment, and that's the report

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  I was just seeking some evidence in support of material change in behaviour, and with that, those are my questions.  Thank you for your indulgence, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  So, Mr. Quinn, did you want as an undertaking a copy of that presentation to stakeholders that Mr. Lister offered up?


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Lister, is that not currently on the record already?

MR. LISTER:  To my knowledge it is not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, it may be that I saw it is a part of the package you were doing in the stakeholdering, so I think to inform the full record that would be helpful.

MS. LONG:  If you don't ask for it, I am going to ask for it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Yes, we will ask for it as an undertaking.  Thank you very much, Mr. Lister, for offering.


MR. MILLAR:  J7.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.6:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE PRESENTATION TO SHAREHOLDERS


MR. QUINN:  Thank you --


MS. LONG:  Those are all your questions?

MR. QUINN:  That's my questions for the day.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Poch?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Tough spot to be in.  If I'm not fast, people are being held here.

Mr. Paris, I think most of my questions are for you, because they are about commercial sector.  Can we turn up L.GEC.1, Mr. Neme's report, at page 25?

MR. PARIS:  Are they commercial programs?

MR. POCH:  About commercial programs.

MR. PARIS:  Okay.  Well, let's see where we go, because we have a panel 3 that is --


MR. POCH:  Yeah, I --


MR. PARIS:  -- specific to commercial.

MR. POCH:  A lot of this is small C&I, and I know you've split the two, but -- and I'm hoping not to be here for the next panel, so...

We've looked at this graphic before in this hearing, and this is just the experience in California when they tried using upstream incentives, the red bars where they were using conventional retail incentives, then they went upstream, they tried going back to retail for a couple of years, just to see what happens there, and then they went back to upstream.

So my question to you is:  Would you agree this is a promising thing for the utility to consider as a way of getting more of the cost-effective potential in these markets?

MR. LISTER:  Mr. Poch, I believe this question is best directed to panel 3.  The name of that panel is commercial-industrial, and we can address that specifically there if that's all right with you.

MR. POCH:  I'm sorry, fair enough.  That's fine.

Okay, then that's my questions.  I've confused which topic this panel was dealing with.  It said "new commercial", and now I realize they've changed that to "new construction" on their sheet.  That's fine.  Then I have no questions for this panel.

MS. LONG:  So you were very brief there, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  There you are.

MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.  Okay, that being said, I think we will break for the remainder of the day, and I will just remind everybody that we're back on tomorrow at 12:30, and it may be difficult for anyone to get in the building between 10:30 and 11:30, so we just advise you of that, and we will see everybody tomorrow morning -- sorry, tomorrow at 12:30.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:49 p.m.
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